# DISSERTATION

# EVALUATION OF POTENTIAL ANALGESIC DRUGS USING NEW MODELS TO STUDY PAIN IN DOGS AND CATS

Submitted by

Sirirat Niyom

Department of Clinical Sciences

In partial fulfillment of the requirements

For the Degree of Doctor of Philosophy

Colorado State University

Fort Collins, Colorado

Summer 2013

**Doctoral Committee:** 

Advisor: Pedro Boscan

Khursheed Mama Connie Vader-Lindholm Marlis Rezende Copyright by Sirirat Niyom 2013

All Rights Reserved

#### ABSTRACT

# EVALUATION OF POTENTIAL ANALGESIC DRUGS USING NEW MODELS TO STUDY PAIN IN DOGS AND CATS

Pain remains an important health issue in both humans and animals. To improve the management of pain and understand the underlying mechanisms, animal models of pain have been generated over the past few decades. This dissertation presents two new models of acute pain developed to evaluate drug effects on nociceptive responses in cats and dogs. The first model determines the MAC sparing effect of an agent during visceral noxious stimulus of the ovary and ovarian ligament in the anesthetized cat. This technique was developed for dogs and modified subsequently to investigate the anesthetic sparing effect of different drugs in cats. The second method evaluates the efficacy of analgesic medications in conscious dogs using nociceptive threshold testing devices. One thermal and two mechanical nociceptive threshold testing devices were utilized to evaluate the antinociceptive effect of different drugs such as buprenorphine in dogs.

Both models are promising to test the analgesic effect of different drugs. Maropitant, NK-1 antagonist, reduced significantly the anesthetic requirements during the ovary and ovarian ligament stimulation in cats. This indicates that maropitant may have the antinociceptive properties encouraging and supporting further investigation of this agent in clinical trials. Orotransmucosal buprenorphine increased thermal and mechanical nociceptive thresholds in dogs using the three testing devices. These findings show potential of the OTM route as an alternative administration of buprenorphine for pain treatment in dogs.

ii

#### ACKNOWLEDGEMENTS

Before all else, I would like to express my very great appreciation to Dr. Pedro Boscan and Dr. Khursheed Mama my academic advisor and co-advisor, for their patient guidance, enthusiastic encouragement and supporting my learning process to accomplish the doctoral work.

I would also like to sincerely thank my committee members, Dr. Marlis Rezende and Dr.Connie Vader-Lindholm, for their advice and useful critiques of this research and my dissertation writing.

My grateful thanks are also extended to James zumBrunnen and Jens Eickhoff for their help in doing the data analysis, to Dr. Eric Monnet and Dr. David Twedt for their technical and personal supports for my research, to Ms. Morna Mynard, for her advice in keeping my progress on the PhD program schedule. I would also like to extend my thanks to the veterinary technicians in anesthesia and surgery sections at Colorado State University's Veterinary Teaching Hospital for all of their supports for my studies.

It was a great honor to receive a scholarship from the Ananda Mahidol foundation and I would like to express my deepest gratitude to all those involved in the foundation. Finally, I wish to thank my family, Ms. Boonplook Niyom, Lt.Col. Pichai Niyom and LCDR Surachet Niyom, for their love, support and encouragement throughout my entire life.

ABSTRACT	ii
ACKNOWLEDGEMENTS	iii
CHAPTER 1: PAIN AND PAIN NEUROPHYSIOLOGY	
Introduction	1
Neurophysiology and pathways of pain	2
Peripheral pathways	3
Peripheral sensitization	4
Molecular mechanisms of nociceptor activation	4
Central pathways	10
Central sensitization	12
Afferent nociceptive pathways of the spinal cord	13
Descending pathway	14
Pharmacology	15
Peripheral targets for analgesic medications	15
Central targets for analgesic medications	18
References	24

# TABLE OF CONTENTS

# CHAPTER 2: ANIMAL MODELS OF PAIN

Introduction	32
Pain assessment tools in animal models	34
Pain scaling systems	34
Analgesiometers	36
Experimental models of pain	37
Acute pain model	37
Inflammatory pain model	40

Neuropathic pain model	41
Clinically oriented pain models	44
References	47

# CHAPTER 3: EVALUATION OF THE ANALGESIC EFFECT OF MAROPITANT IN CATS

Introduction	55
Materials and methods	56
Results	62
Discussion	67
References	74

# CHAPTER 4: EVALUATION OF THE ANALGESIC EFFECT OF ORAL TRANSMUCOSAL BUPRENORPHINE IN DOGS USING THERMAL AND MECHANICAL NOCICEPTIVE THRESHOLD TESTING DEVICES

Introduction	80
Materials and methods	81
Results	87
Discussion	90
References	94

CHAPTER 5: CONCLUSIONS AND FUTURE DIRECTION	96
---	----

#### CHAPTER 1: PAIN AND PAIN NEUROPHYSIOLOGY

# Introduction

Pain is defined by International association for the study of pain (IASP) as an unpleasant sensory and emotional experience associated with actual or potential tissue damage, or described in terms of such damage. Pain mechanisms serve as a natural protective function of organisms against noxious stimuli by changing the physiology and behavior to reduce or avoid further damage, and promote recovery. People with a loss of pain function appear to have recurrent injuries such as burns, repeat fractures, and self-injuries (Ma & Turner 2012). Many of them do not survive childhood because without feeling pain they cannot learn self-awareness necessity to avoid danger. Additional pain terminology is provided in **Table 1.1**.

In humans the pain experience consists of three dimensions: sensory- discriminative, motivational-affective and cognitive-evaluative (Melzack & Casey 1968). The sensory discriminative aspect provides information about the noxious stimulus. The motivational-affective dimension conveys the unpleasant nature of the experience and triggers responses to escape the unpleasantness. The cognitive-evaluative component summarizes the effects of social values, prior experience, and conditioning. This last dimension relies on self-reporting; hence in non-verbal subjects, such as animals, it is debated as to whether the pain experience has a cognitive-evaluative component.

 Table 1.1: Pain terminology defined by International association for the study of pain (<a href="http://www.iasp-pain.org">http://www.iasp-pain.org</a>)

Terminology	Definition
Pain	An unpleasant sensory and emotional experience associated with actual or potential
	tissue damage, or described in terms of such damage.
Allodynia	Pain due to a stimulus that does not normally provoke pain.
Hyperalgesia	Increased pain from a stimulus that normally provokes pain.
Neuropathic	Pain caused by a lesion or disease of the somatosensory nervous system.
Nociceptive	Pain that arises from actual or threatened damage to non-neural tissue and is due to
	the activation of nociceptors.
Pain threshold	The minimum intensity of a stimulus that is perceived as painful.
Sensitization	Increased responsiveness of nociceptive neurons to their normal input, and/or recruitment of a response to normally subthreshold inputs.
Central	Increased responsiveness of nociceptive neurons in the central nervous system to
sensitization	their normal or subthreshold afferent input.
Peripheral	Increased responsiveness and reduced threshold of nociceptive neurons in the
sensitization	periphery to the stimulation of their receptive fields.

# Neurophysiology and pathways of pain

Nociception or the normal processing of nociceptive stimuli involves detection and transmission of noxious information from the peripheral to the central nervous system. It is composed of four components: transduction, transmission, modulation, and perception. During transduction, a noxious stimulus (mechanical, thermal or chemical) is converted into an electrical impulse which is propagated through nerve fibers (mostly A $\delta$  or C fibers) of the first-order neurons leading from the peripheral nociceptors to the spinal cord. Modulation takes place mainly in the dorsal horn of the spinal cord where the first-order neurons synapse with second-order neurons. Nociceptive input can be amplified or attenuated at this site by a number of neuropeptides released from neighboring neurons and descending pathways. Second-order neurons project from here to third-order neurons link to the cerebral cortex where further processing results in perception.

### **Peripheral pathways**

Nociceptors are naked nerve endings of first-order afferent neurons that have cell-bodies in dorsal root ganglions. They are distributed broadly in skin and deep tissues. Some nociceptors are activated by a specific type of noxious stimulus such as mechanical, thermal, or chemical while most of them are polymodal or activated by multiple types of noxious stimuli. Nociceptors have a threshold of activation, and respond progressively according to the intensity of the stimulus to generate action potentials which are conducted along nerve fibers to the dorsal horn of the spinal cord.

According to pain concepts in most textbooks, thinly myelinated A $\delta$  fibers and unmyelinated C fibers are two types of sensory fibers conducting most of the nociceptive signals to the dorsal horn while the large myelinated A $\beta$  fibers transmit other sensory information to the central nervous system. A $\delta$  fibers are associated with sharp and pricking pain, rapidly conduct impulse (5-20 m/s). C fibers are associated with dull, burning pain and slowly conduct impulse (0.5-1 m/s). Both fiber types innervate skin (associated with superficial pain) and deep somatic/visceral structures (associated with deep pain) but in different ratios. The ratio of A $\delta$  to C fibers is 1:1 to 1:2 in cutaneous nerves, and 1:8-10 in visceral nerves (Dugdale 2010). However, evidences reviewed by Djouhri and Lawson in 2004 indicate the existence of A $\beta$ nociceptors. A population of somatic afferent A-fiber nociceptors in guinea pig, mouse, rat, cat and monkey conducts impulse in the A $\beta$  conduction velocity range (Djouhri & Lawson 2004). Hence it is possible that some of A $\beta$  afferents may play a role in transmitting the somatic nociceptive signals.

Nevertheless, a substantial population of  $A\beta$  fibers that conduct signals of nonnociceptive sensory to the central nervous system may also have a significant role in pain

circuitry as proposed in the Gate control theory by Melzack and Wall in 1962. The idea of the gate control theory is that noxious input is modulated by both noxious and non-noxious stimuli at the level of the spinal cord. The theory suggests that firing of the A $\beta$  non-nociceptive fibers by non-noxious stimuli activates the inhibitory interneurons which may inhibit the activity of projection neurons (postsynaptic inhibition) or reduce the release of neurotransmitter from the nociceptive fiber (presynaptic inhibition) (Hellyer et al. 2007). As a result, nociceptive transmission is interrupted and this information cannot be sent to the central nervous system (Melzack & Wall 1965).

# Peripheral sensitization

Under normal conditions, pain caused by an acute stimulus dissipates rapidly. Under conditions where the stimulus may be ongoing, inflammatory mediators released from damaged cells and injured tissue can sensitize nociceptors. These sensitized nociceptors evoke a stronger response to any given stimulus than in normal state and their thresholds may be reduced such that even innocuous stimuli can activate them. Additionally silent nociceptors, which are not activated in normal state now respond to noxious stimuli. Hence these processes collectively term result in the two clinically relevant conditions of hyperalgesia and allodynia.

#### Molecular mechanisms of nociceptor activation

Nociceptors use signal-transduction mechanisms to control excitability and sensitization of primary sensory neurons. Noxious stimuli physically, chemically, or thermally stimulate the sensory nerve ending which causes the opening of ion channels to allow the influx of cations which produce depolarization. If this depolarization is strong enough the voltage-gated Na<sup>+</sup> channels will open to trigger an action potential and recruit neighboring Na<sup>+</sup> channels to conduct the pain signals along the axons of the neurons. While Na<sup>+</sup> channels are necessary for the action potential generation and conduction, K<sup>+</sup> and Ca<sup>2+</sup> assist in controlling the excitability of neurons. Other important receptors, such as transient receptor potential (TRP) receptors and acid-sensing ion channels, are involved in processing information in the periphery. Inflammatory mediators such as bradykinin and prostaglandin also play an important role in signal transduction.

# Voltage-gated sodium channels

 $Na^+$  channels including  $Na_v 1.7$ ,  $Na_v 1.8$ , and  $Na_v 1.9$  are expressed exclusively in nociceptive neurons.  $Na_v 1.7$  is blocked by tetrodotoxin (TTX-sensitive (S)), while  $Na_v 1.8$  and  $Na_v 1.9$  are tetrodotoxin resistant (TTX-R). Both TTX-S and TTX-R sodium channels are believed to be essential for the generation and conduction of action potentials and nociceptive processing based on preclinical studies (Baker & Wood 2001). A loss of function or mutation of  $Na_v 1.7$  results in insensitivity to pain (Cox et al. 2006). Additional compelling evidence supports the relationship between pain and TTX-S and TTX-R  $Na^+$  channels, i.e, knock-out of the TTX-S or TTX-R channels in rodents attenuates hypersensitivity and hyperalgesia following nerve injuries and inflammation (Amaya et al. 2006; Gold 2008).

#### TRP receptors

Transient receptor potential cation channel vanilloid subfamily V member 1 (TRPV1) is a permeable, nonselective cation channel that is found in both neuronal, such as brain tissue and dorsal root ganglia, and nonneuronal tissues, such as skin and urinary bladder (Hayes et al. 2000; Immke & Gavva 2006). This receptor is believed to serve as an integrator of multiple noxious stimuli, including capsaicin, heat, acid, products of lipoxygenase, anandamide, and polyamines (Cortright & Szallasi 2004; Van Der Stelt & Di Marzo 2004; Ahern et al. 2006; Wong & Gavva 2009). The receptor opens in response to noxious thermal and chemical stimuli (Caterina et al. 1997; Tominaga et al. 1998). In addition, many inflammatory mediators, such as bradykinin, extracellular ATP, prostaglandins, nerve growth factor, glutamate, and activated phospholipase C have been reported to be able to modulate the activity of TRPV1 (Premkumar & Ahern 2000; Lee et al. 2005; Immke & Gavva 2006). Various TRPV1 antagonists have been shown to reverse nociceptive responses in rodents with inflammatory conditions such as those associated with complete Freund adjuvant-induced thermal or mechanical hyperalgesia at the plantar surface of the hind paw (Honore et al. 2005; Immke & Gavva 2006).

Other TRP members that may be involved in nociceptive transduction include TRPV2 (TRP vanilloid 2), TRPV4 (TRP vanilloid 4), TRPA1 (ankyrin 1) and TRPM8 (melastatin 8) (Schaible et al. 2011). TRPA1 and TRPM8 are candidates involved in mechanisms of cold nociception (Peier et al. 2002; Reid 2005). TRPV2 is likely to be involved in thermal nociception because it is activated at temperatures higher than 52 °C (Tominaga & Caterina 2004). TRPV 4 function may be related to the transduction of mechanical stimuli (Zhang et al. 2008; Alessandri-Haber et al. 2009).

#### Acid-sensing ion channels

Acid-sensing ion channels (ASICs) belong to the epithelial sodium channel (ENaC)/degenerin (DEG) superfamily of ion channels. They are depolarizing cationic channels with high Na<sup>+</sup> permeability following the stimulation of low extracellular pH. ASICs are found in sensory neurons of dorsal root ganglia, nociceptive fibers, as well as in vagal and trigeminal

ganglia of central nervous system supporting a role in detection of pain of the channels. Several subunits of ASICs have been reported, including ASIC1a, ASIC1b, ASIC2a, ASIC2b, ASIC3 and ASIC4 (Deval et al. 2010). ASIC1a and ASIC3 are targets of interest for pain treatment. ASIC3 appears to be involved in development of somatic inflammatory pain and visceral pain in both heart and gastrointestinal tract (Immke & McCleskey 2001). ASIC1a may play a role in central sensitization of second-order sensory neurons and be involved inhibition on the endogenous enkephalin pathway (Deval et al. 2010). Thus in addition to peripheral sensitization, ASICs may be potential targets for management of central sensitization.

#### Purinergic ion channels and ATP

Purinergic (P) receptors containing the P2X3 subunit (P2X3 homotrimeric and P2X2/3 heterotrimeric) are members of the P2X family of ATP-gated ion channels. These receptors are non-selective cation channels localized on Aδ and C fibers, and in both peripheral and central terminals of the sensory neurons in the dorsal root and cranial sensory ganglia. ATP forms a ligand for these receptors and is released from various cells as a consequence of tissue injury (Ford 2012). A high concentration of ATP is also released from the terminals of primary afferent neurons following nociceptive stimulus (Wirkner et al. 2007). P2X3 and P2X2/3 are, therefore, believed to participate in nociceptive signaling. This assumption is also supported by genetic and pharmacological studies. P2X3 gene disruption results in a hypoalgesic phenotype in rodents; in agreement, P2X3 receptor antagonists in animal models of pathological pain have provided reduction of pain behavior (Jarvis 2003; Ford 2012).

## Neuropeptides

Neurogenic inflammation encompasses a series of inflammatory responses activated by neuropeptides, such as tachykinin peptides and the calcitonin gene related peptide (CGRP), which are mainly released from endings of primary sensory neurons in response to noxious stimulation.

Tachykinin peptides: The tachykinin family of peptides are expressed in the nervous system and in many organs. The most notable tachykinin is substance P, which is postulated to be involved in sensitivity of pain. Substance P is synthesized in small sensory afferents and released in response to noxious thermal, mechanical and chemical stimuli (Duggan et al. 1988). This tachykinin acts by binding to neurokinin-1 (NK-1) receptors which are expressed in both peripheral and central terminals of primary afferent neurons, dorsal root ganglion neurons, trigeminal ganglion neurons, and throughout the brain (Maeno et al. 1993). To date, NK-1 receptors are believed to play an important role in central sensitization of the spinal cord, but may not be necessary for acute nociceptive transmission (De Felipe et al. 1998).

Calcitonin gene related peptide (CGRP) is a neuropeptide released from peripheral and central neurons in response to inflammation. It is a peptide vasodilator that may play a role in pain transmission (Benemei et al. 2009). At periphery CGRP causes vasodilation and smooth muscle relaxation, as well as it is involved in migraine pathogenesis in the central nervous system (Benemei et al. 2009). In the dorsal horn of the spinal cord CGRP facilitates evoked activity (Biella et al. 1991). In CGRP knockout mice secondary hyperalgesia did not develop secondary to joint inflammation (Zhang et al. 2001).

## *Inhibitory peptides*

Endogenous inhibitory peptides demonstrated in dorsal root ganglia and in peripheral sensory neurons include peripheral opioids (Stein et al. 2009), somatostatin, and cannabinoids. These peptides act on their specific receptors in sensory neurons to produce antinociception. Somatostatin neurotransmitter is distributed throughout the body and also localized in the dorsal root ganglion cells. Somatostatin receptors are believed to maintain a tonic inhibitory control over nociceptors and activation inhibits pain responses in both humans and animals. (Carlton et al. 2001a; Carlton et al. 2001b). The endocannabinoid system has been found to function as an antinociceptive system. Endogenous cannabinoids and cannabinoid agonists diminish responses to noxious stimuli via CB1 and CB2 G<sub>i</sub>-protein coupled receptors (Malan et al. 2001; Pertwee 2001).

# Inflammatory mediators

Inflammation of peripheral tissue and nerves can induce peripheral sensitization as mentioned previously. Many inflammatory mediators (i.e., bradykinin, prostaglandins), cytokines (interleukins), and neurotrophins (nerve growth factor) are involved in mechanisms behind the sensitization. These mediators are released during the inflammation and act on their receptors in nociceptive neurons to enhance the neuronal activity.

Prostaglandins and bradykinin are marked sensitizers of nociceptors. Prostaglandin  $E_2$  binds to  $G_s$ -protein-coupled receptor resulting in an increase of the second messenger cyclic adenosine monophosphate (cAMP) which activates protein kinase A in cells. This pathway enhances excitability of neurons by sensitizing ion channels in membrane such as TRPV1 receptors and Na<sup>+</sup> channels (Schaible et al. 2011). Bradykinin can activate neurons and sensitize

them to mechanical and thermal stimuli to evoke an action potential even with a subthreshold stimulus (Liang et al. 2001). Bradykinin (B2) receptors are coupled to  $G_q$ -proteins which activate phospholipase C (PLC) and in turn protein kinase C (PKC) which results in sensitization of sensory ion channels (Linley et al. 2010).

Cytokines are important mediators of peripheral sensitization. In mice, intradermal interleukin (IL)-1 $\beta$ , keratinocyte-derived chemokine (KC), tumor necrosis factor-alpha (TNF $\alpha$ ), IL-8, IL-12, IL-15 and IL-18 have provided intense and sustained mechanical sensitization (Stein et al. 2009). Thus these cytokines are likely to play a role in inflammatory pain.

Nerve growth factor (NGF), a neurotrophin, is produced in large amounts during inflammation. Tyrosine receptor kinase A (TrkA) is a main receptor of NGF expressed in primary afferent neurons. This NGF: 1) it increases currents through TRPV1 receptors to reduce the thermal nociceptive threshold, 2) increases expression of TRPV1, bradykinin receptors, P2X receptors, Na<sup>+</sup> channels, and synthesis of substance P and CGRP with long term exposure and 3) induces inflammatory mediator release from inflammatory cells (Schaible 2007; Stein et al. 2009; Schaible et al. 2011).

#### **Central pathways**

#### **Spinal cord**

Central axons of first-order neurons synapse on second-order neurons in the dorsal horn of the spinal cord. They terminate predominantly in laminae I, II, and V of the dorsal horn on projection neurons and local interneurons. Laminae I and II receive direct primary afferent input from A $\delta$  and C fibers. Wide Dynamic Range (WDR) neurons in laminae V respond to both noxious and non-noxious stimuli which are transmitted by the A $\delta$ , C and A $\beta$  fibers. Consequently, WDR neurons can play a role in the segmental suppression of pain in the Gate Control Theory (Almeida et al. 2004).

Aδ and C fibers release neurotransmitters including the excitatory amino acids aspartate and glutamate as well as substance P to activate dorsal horn neurons which contain pharmacological ionotropic glutamate receptors, such as N-methyl-D aspartate (NMDA),  $\alpha$ amino-3-hydroxy-5-methyl-4-isoxazolepropionic acid (AMPA), and kainate (Dingledine et al. 1999; Traynelis et al. 2010). Glutamate binding activates these receptors to allow the flow of Na<sup>+</sup>, K<sup>+</sup> and Ca<sup>2+</sup> resulting in an excitatory postsynaptic current. This depolarizing may trigger an action potential; this action potential propagates the excitatory signals along the axon ascending to supraspinal structures.

Inhibitory neurons in the dorsal horn are also activated by firing of the A $\delta$ , C and A $\beta$  fibers. Following stimulation the inhibitory neurons release gamma-aminobutyric acid (GABA), the major inhibitory neurotransmitter in the central nervous system to regulate nociceptive activity by interacting with GABA receptors in the projection neurons and the primary afferents. There are three classes of GABA receptors involved in the modulation: GABA<sub>A</sub>, GABA<sub>B</sub> and GABA<sub>C</sub>. Activation of GABA<sub>C</sub> receptors induces antinociception (Reis & Duarte 2007); however the receptors are expressed predominantly in the retina and play an important role in visual signaling (Qian & Ripps 2009). After binding to GABA<sub>A</sub> and GABA<sub>C</sub>, chloride-permeable ion channels are activated to hyperpolarize neurons and to impair the propagation of excitatory signals; GABA<sub>B</sub> receptors are G protein-coupled receptors and their activation leads to an increase of K<sup>+</sup> conductance resulting in cell hyperpolarization (Bormann 2000; Chen et al. 2005). Activation of GABA<sub>A</sub> and probably GABA<sub>C</sub> receptors generates inhibitory postsynaptic

potentials while  $GABA_B$  receptors have a role in both postsynaptic and presynaptic inhibition (Zhu & Lo 1999; Yang et al. 2001; Lemke 2007; Labrakakis et al. 2009).

# Central sensitization

Peripheral sensitization induced as discussed earlier, results in increased nociception input to the central nervous system. This in turn can lead to central sensitization. WDR neurons are important cells in the expression of this spinal facilitation of pain, or so-called wind up. As a consequence of the prolonged firing of primary nociceptive afferents, the increased release of glutamate neurotransmitter as well as the release of substance P and brain-derived neurotrophic factor onto the second-order neurons produces a sustained and augmented post-synaptic depolarization which activates NMDA receptors by relieving the magnesium ion (Mg<sup>2+</sup>) block of NMDA in WDR neurons. These activated NMDA receptors then allow influx of Ca<sup>2+</sup> and Na<sup>+</sup> ions into the cells, and bring the postsynaptic membrane potential closer to threshold. Thus subsequent neurotransmitter release is more likely to produce action potentials in the postsynaptic neurons. Furthermore, calcium ions can produce long-lasting changes in the postsynaptic cells that have a lower threshold for excitation over longer periods of time. Consequently, innocuous stimuli transmitted along A $\beta$  fiber may be interpreted as noxious and result in allodynia; excitatory signals from A\delta and C fibers may also be amplified resulting in hyperalgesia.

Recently it has been recognized that the spinal cord glial cells are activated by release of proinflammatory products, such as cytokines and chemokines, caused by peripheral inflammation and injury. These products increase neuronal excitability by activating receptors directly, upregulating the actions of excitatory amino acid receptors, or downregulating the

actions of inhibitory receptors, such as GABA receptors (Watkins et al. 2007). This sensitization may outlast the stimuli that triggered it, and has been suggested as a possible causal mechanism for chronic hyperalgesia and allodynia (Kidd & Urban 2001).

# Afferent nociceptive pathways of the spinal cord

Axons of second-order neurons (projection neurons) form afferent bundles to transmit the nociceptive impulses to supraspinal structures including two that are important in pain transmission and recognition namely the thalamus and reticular formation of the medulla. There are many ascending nociceptive pathways that have been described in the spinal cord. However, the spinocervicothalamic tract conveying somatic and superficial pain information, and the spinoreticular tract transmitting deep pain signals and visceral organ information are considered the most important.

The spinocervicothalamic tract is the primary pain pathway for transmission of superficial pain and tactile sensations. After receiving impulses from primary afferents, the secondary afferents in spinal cord both mediate local reflexes and project cranially via an ipsilateral tract in the lateral funiculus of the spinal cord close to the white matter. The axons synapse in the lateral cervical nucleus of spinal C1 and C2 segments. From this nucleus, nerve fibers decussate through the C1 spinal segment and caudal medulla and travel up to the thalamus from where fibers project to the somatosensory cortex. Some collaterals of the ascending fibers also terminate in the reticular formation (Hellyer et al. 2007).

The spinoreticular tract (spinoreticulothalamic) transmits deep pain and visceral sensations. The pathway begins with axons of first-order neurons entering the cord and immediately diverging to send collaterals to segments cranial and caudal to the segment entry.

This spreading of information results in coordination of multiple intra- and inter-segmental reflexes in response to the nociceptive input. Axons of projection neurons then travel diffusely in the lateral and ventral funiculi, close to the grey matter of the cord, and information ascends bilaterally throughout the spinal cord. In the brainstem most ascending projections terminate in the reticular formation, from where fibers project to multiple destinations including thalamus and limbic system. The thalamus passes the information indirectly to cerebral cortex which results in pain perception, and the limbic system resulting in evoked emotional responses to noxious stimulation. As a result of the multisynaptic and diffuse manner of the spinoreticular pathway, deep and visceral pains are always poorly localized involved (Hellyer et al. 2007).

# **Descending pathway**

The periaqueductal grey matter (PAG) and rostral ventromedial medulla (RVM) play a role in modulation of pain (Gebhart 2004). The PAG is the grey matter located in midbrain. Following receipt nociceptive input from the dorsal horn of the spinal cord, it provides input to the hypothalamus, parabrachial nucleus (PBN), nucleus tractus solitaries (NTS) and RVM or the supraspinal structures which give rise to the descending pathways. The PAG also has connections to corticolimbic structures including the frontal cortex and amygdala (Millan 2002). RVM is a group of neurons located on the floor of medulla; in rats RVM includes the nucleus raphe magnus, nucleus reticularis gigantocellularis pars alpha, and nucleus reticularis paragigantocellularis lateralis (Fields et al. 1991). Projection of neuronal impulses from PAG to RVM is the major pathway for mediating descending inhibition. After receiving the ascending nociceptive input the PAG releases endorphins onto the nucleus raphe magnus of RVM, other medullary reticular nuclei and the dorsal horn of the spinal cord. Input from the PAG further

activates monoaminergic pathways in the nucleus raphe magnus that release serotonin (5-HT) onto inhibitory interneurons in the spinal cord to inhibit nociceptive transmission (Hellyer et al. 2007). The PAG also communicates with the noradrenergic locus coeruleus which contacts the RVM and transmits descending noradrenergic inhibitory projections to the spinal cord (Ossipov et al. 2010). The RVM contains two types of cells believed to cause descending inhibition and facilitation of spinal nociceptive transmission. First, Off-cells are excited by opioids and inhibited by nociceptive input (Millan 2002). They are thought to trigger descending inhibition because decrease in firing of these cells are correlated with increasing nociceptive transmission, whereas increase in their activity results in reducing of nociception (Schaible 2007). In contrast, the second group of cells known as On-cells are inhibited by opioids and excited by nociceptive input. Hence On-cells seem to facilitate nociceptive transmission in spinal cord (Millan 2002; Schaible 2007).

#### Pharmacology

### Peripheral targets for analgesic medications

Targets for analgesic medications include receptors, channels and mediators involved in peripheral nociceptive transduction and transmission. Long standing peripheral analgesics include non-steroidal anti-inflammatory drugs (NSAIDs), local anesthetics, and opioids. NSAIDs are used commonly to treat inflammatory pain, such as arthritis and musculoskeletal pain, but they may be used to treat neuropathic pain in some cases. The NSAIDs inhibit both peripheral and central cyclooxygenases (COX), in particular COX-2 which is responsible for the production of prostaglandins at the site of inflammation (Warner & Mitchell 2004). Although these drugs are effective at relieving pain of inflammatory origin, chronic treatment with NSAIDs could increase the risk of side effects such as gastrointestinal hemorrhage and ulcers and renal damage. Local anesthetics, such as lidocaine and bupivacaine, block Na<sup>+</sup> channels which are essential for the generation and conduction of action potential in processing of nociceptive transduction and transmission. These compounds are used to prevent or reduce the firing of nociceptive fibers resulting in pain relief. Opioids are another group of analgesics that may produce peripheral analgesia in addition to their central antinociceptive effects. However, the mechanisms underlying the peripheral action of opioids are still unclear (Cunha et al. 2010).

In attempts to develop novel analgesics, other promising molecules with both genetic and pharmacological properties have been investigated such as TRPV1 antagonists, NGF antagonists and selective Na channel blockers.

TRPV1 is considered as a promising target for pain modulation due to activation by a variety of noxious physical and chemical stimuli (Willis 2009) associated with inflammation processes and has resulted in the clinical development of the vanilloid class of drugs. Following peripheral inflammation, TRPV1 upregulation appears to occur at central as well as peripheral terminals of DRG neurons, leading to pre-synaptic augmentation of glutamatergic signaling in the spinal cord (Premkumar & Sikand 2008). However both TRPV1 agonists and antagonists may be able to reduce pain. Since TRPV1 is a highly Ca<sup>2+</sup> permeable channel, activation by a TRPV1 agonist can induce sustained influx of Ca<sup>2+</sup> resulting in desensitization and inhibition of the generation of action potential, as well as nerve terminal degeneration leading to long-lasting pain relief (Kissin 2008). On the other hand TRPV1 antagonists inhibit the receptor and prevent the generation of action potential at both the spinal and peripheral terminals. Side effects such as hyperthermia caused by TRPV1 antagonists need to be considered and avoided.

NGF, (as mentioned previously), is believed to play a role in inflammatory and neuropathic pain mechanism. Increased NGF levels have been found in animal models of inflammatory and neuropathic pain, while the NGF sequestration reduced hyperalgesia (Watson et al. 2008). Recently, a novel NGF receptor antagonist (ALE-0540) has been investigated and has shown anti-allodynic properties in rat models of neuropathic pain and thermally-induced inflammatory pain (Owolabi et al. 1999). In human clinical trials Tanezumab (RN-624), a first-in-class recombinant humanized monoclonal antibody targeting NGF, has demonstrated favorable results. Phase I and II clinical trials of Tanezumab in people with osteoarthritic pain and chronic lower back pain showed efficacy in reducing pain as well as a good safety and tolerability profile (Cattaneo 2010). Hence NGF and its receptor (TrkA) show promise as therapeutic targets in the management of chronic inflammatory pain.

 $Na_v 1.8$  channels (TTX-R  $Na^+$  channel) provide an interesting target for treatment of both inflammatory and neuropathic pain. A-803467, a selective  $Na_v 1.8$  sodium channel blocker, reduced mechanical allodynia in a variety of rat pain models including spinal nerve ligation, sciatic nerve injury, capsaicin-induced secondary mechanical allodynia, and thermal hyperalgesia after intraplantar complete Freund's adjuvant injection (Jarvis et al. 2007). Similarly, another  $Na_v 1.8$  sodium channel blocker (A-887826) demonstrated positive results in a rat model of neuropathic pain. Following oral administration of A-887826, rats demonstrated a reduced behavior of tactile allodynia in the spinal nerve ligation model (Zhang et al. 2010). This early evidence supports the role of  $Na_v 1.8$  channels in pathological pain states of both neuropathic and inflammatory pain.

Bradykinin receptors are one of targets of interest for novel analgesics. B1 and B2 are the two types of bradykinin receptors. Both of them are coupled to G-proteins and activated by

bradykinin in different states. In normal tissue B1 is dormant, while B2 can respond to bradykinin immediately and contributes to acute pain state (Rodger 2009). In inflammatory conditions, B1 is activated and stimulated by bradykinin further contributing to pain and enhancing inflammation (Millan 1999). To date there are only a small number of studies looking at pharmacologic antagonists for B1 and B2 to support a role of bradykinin antagonists in the treatment of pain. Further pharmacological investigation is needed.

Cannabinoids are inhibitory peptides that have analgesic properties via CB1 receptor in sensory neurons. Endogenous ligands for the CB receptors include arachidonylethanolamide, 2-arachidonylglycerol and palmitoylethanolamide (Rodger 2009). Recently the analgesic effect of a CB agonist, tetrahydrocannabinol (THC), has been investigated in a clinical trial. Following oral administration of THC, patients with peripheral neuropathic pain demonstrated a reduction in pain intensity scores; however, sedative and gastrointestinal side effects were observed (Nurmikko et al. 2007).

### Central targets for analgesic medications

Opioids are commonly used for treatment of pain in both human beings and animals. Opioid receptors ( $\mu$ ,  $\delta$ ,  $\kappa$ ) are G protein-coupled receptors distributed throughout the central nervous system. Activation of opioid receptors by endogenous or synthetic opioids results in closing of voltage sensitive calcium channels, K<sup>+</sup> efflux leading to hyperpolarization; and inhibition of adenylyl cyclase to produce cAMP. This results in reduced neuronal excitability and a reduction in transmission of nerve impulses and release of excitatory neurotransmitters (McDonald & Lambert 2008).  $\alpha_2$ -adrenoceptor agonists mediate their analgesic properties by mimicking endogenous norepinephrine which participates in descending inhibitory pathways. The  $\alpha_2$ -adrenergic receptor is a G<sub>i</sub> protein-coupled receptor located throughout both central and peripheral nervous systems. Activation of  $\alpha_2$ -adrenergic receptors appears to interrupt the nociceptive transmission principally at the spinal cord and locus coeruleus. It inhibits the release of excitatory neurotransmitters from primary afferent terminals, as well as hyperpolarizes neurons to reduce the excitability of cells (Millan 2002).

Although opioids and  $\alpha_2$ -adrenoceptor agonists are widely used as central analgesics, side effects (e.g., cardiopulmonary depression, sedation, gastrointestinal stasis, tolerance) of these drugs are often reported in patients. Additional novel targets for analgesics such as N-type Ca<sub>v</sub>2.2 calcium channel, NMDA, NK-1, GABA, Glycine, and P2X4 receptors are being evaluated as well.

N-type  $Ca_v 2.2$  calcium channels:  $Ca^{2+}$  entry via voltage-gated  $Ca^{2+}$  channels into primary sensory neurons is necessary for regulating neurotransmitter release which favors the transmission of the sensory information to the central nervous system (Rodger 2009). Both preclinical and clinical data have identified that N-type  $Ca_v 2.2$  calcium channels as play a role in the increase of neuron excitability and release of neurotransmitters whereas reduction of  $Ca_v 2.2$ mediated  $Ca^{2+}$ entry produces pain relief (Winquist et al. 2005). Intrathecal administrations of selective  $Ca_v 2.2$  antagonists, such as omega–conotoxins, ziconotide and ct-GVIA, have shown antinociceptive properties in several preclinical models of neuropathic, postoperative and arthritis pain (Winquist et al. 2005). Nevertheless, many aspects of molecular mechanisms remain to be determined to develop  $Ca_v 2.2$  blocker as a new analgesic with acceptable side effects. Presently, gabapentin and pregabalin, GABA analogues, have been shown to be effective for neuropathic pain disorders. However rather than directly working at GABA receptors it is likely that they inhibit calcium currents via voltage-gated calcium channels containing the  $\alpha_2\delta$ -1 subunit resulting in a reduction of neurotransmitter release and an attenuation of postsynaptic excitability (Sills 2006). Evidence supports that they have analgesic properties against diabetic neuropathy and post-herpetic neuralgia (Backonja 2002; van Seventer et al. 2006).

As stated previously NMDA receptors play a role in central sensitization (Petrenko et al. 2003). Consistent with this, NMDA antagonists such as ketamine and amantadine, exhibit analgesic properties against pathological pain in both humans and animals (Robertson 2005; Lamont 2008; Lascelles et al. 2008; Muir 2010; Prommer 2012). However, clinical use of these antagonists is limited by their side effects resulting from suppression of physiological functions of NMDA in the central nervous system (Vinuela-Fernandez et al. 2007; Holtman et al. 2008). High dose of ketamine can develop psychomimetic side effects such as hallucination, sedation, nausea, dissociative reactions, muteness, dizziness, and visual distortions in humans (Sang 2000). Following administration of high-dose continuous infusion ketamine in horses, signs of excitation including exaggerated responses to movement, light and noise were reported (Fielding et al. 2006). In an effort to minimize side effects low subanesthetic doses of ketamine were used and investigated. The results suggested that the subanesthetic doses of ketamine may produce effective analgesia in acute musculoskeletal trauma in humans (Gurnani et al. 1996) and enhance the analgesic efficacy of opioids and  $\alpha$ -2 agonists with a reduced incidence of the side effects when used as an adjunct for postoperative analgesia in humans and dogs (Schmid et al. 1999; Wagner et al. 2002; Himmelseher & Durieux 2005; Chizh 2007). Recently studies have focused on inhibiting the binding of protein tyrosine kinase Src to the NMDA receptor. Tyrosine kinase

Src binds to the NMDA receptor at NADH dehydrogenase subunit 2 (ND2) to increase NMDA activity. Disruption of the Src and NMDA interaction prevented pain responses induced by intraplantar formalin and reversed pain hypersensitivity associated with inflammation and nerve injury without the detrimental effects (Liu et al. 2008).

 $\gamma$ -Aminobutyric acid (GABA) and glycine are inhibitory neurotransmitters released primarily from inhibitory interneurons in the mammalian spinal cord. Activation of GABA receptors induce hyperpolarization of neurons impairing the dendritic propagation of excitatory signals. A loss of synaptic inhibition in the spinal cord from GABA inhibitory system may develop and maintain the chronic pain condition (Zeilhofer 2008). Recent studies have found that peripheral nerve damage and inflammation induce the GABA dysfunction and cause pathological pain. Nerve damage may induce apoptosis of inhibitory interneurons that release GABA. Additionally prostaglandin E2 released during inflammation blocks the action of glycine, disrupting the inhibitory pathway and allowing excitatory postsynaptic events (Ahmadi et al. 2002). Therefore, selective GABAergic agonists seem to be promising agents for the treatment of pathological pain. They do however cause sedation, amnesia and addiction when administered for treatment of chronic pain (Knabl et al. 2008). The central nervous system depressant properties of propofol (an anesthetic) and diazepam (a benzodiazepine tranquilizer) are related to the actions on GABA receptors, but the analgesic efficacy of the drugs remains controversial (Casarrubea et al. 2012; Hasani et al. 2012).

Tricyclic antidepressants (TCAs) are recommended as one of the first-line medications of neuropathic pain in humans (Attal 2012). Mechanisms of TCAs include inhibition of presynaptic reuptake of the monoamines serotonin and norepinephrine which mediate descending modulatory pathways, and blockade of NMDA receptors and sodium channels (Sindrup et al. 2005). In randomized, controlled trials in humans TCAs (i.e., amitriptyline, imipramine and clomipramine) relieved neuropathic pain such as postherpetic neuralgia and diabetic painful polyneuropathy (Sindrup et al. 2005). The common side effects of TCAs are orthostatic hypotension, dry mouth, sweating, constipation, blurred vision, urinary retention, dizziness and sedation (Attal 2012). In veterinary patients there are no published reports using the antidepressants for pain management, however, recommended dosages of amitriptyline and imipramine are provided in dogs and cats to for example urinary bladder pain such as interstitial cystitis (Mathews 2008; Grubb 2010a).

Serotonin-norepinephrine reuptake inhibitors such as duloxetine and venlafaxine are effective to alleviate diabetic painful polyneuropathy, but cause some side effects e.g., gastrointestinal disturbances and sedation in humans (Attal 2012). These drugs may enhance the activity of serotonin and norepinephrine in the descending inhibitory pathways resulting in analgesia. Tramadol, a synthetic opioid, may be classified as a serotonin-norepinephrine reuptake inhibitor based on its ability to inhibit the reuptake of these neurotransmitters. Tramadol is commonly used in combination with traditional analgesics in veterinary medicine. Pharmacokinetics of the drug are erratic and variable across individuals and species in animals, therefore, the pain management should not be relied on tramadol alone (Grubb 2010b; Rychel 2010).

The actions of substance P are mediated by NK-1 receptor. Substance P is an important neurotransmitter in both peripheral and central pain mechanisms. The NK-1 receptor is involved in central sensitization in the spinal cord making it an interesting target for treatment of pathological pain. Intrathecal administrations of NK-1 antagonists reduced the response of dorsal horn neurons evoked by noxious stimuli and diminished the hyperalgesic state induced by

persistent stimulation (Holzer-Petsche & Rordorf-Nikolic 1995). Recently a systemic NK-1 antagonist was shown to decreased the minimum alveolar concentration of sevoflurane in dogs (Boscan et al. 2011) and cats (Niyom et al. 2013). A few additional studies have focused on the antinociceptive effect of NK-1 blockers, but the primary focus for this class of drug continues to be on antiemetic effects (Diemunsch et al. 2009). This may be due to the fact that NK-1 antagonists have failed to show analgesic activity in clinical trials evaluating both acute and chronic pain conditions. Discussion has centered around the appropriateness of using NK-1 antagonists for the conditions tested in those clinical trials. Nevertheless, a big gap remains between the lack of efficacy in clinical trials and experimental evidence supporting a role for substance P in pain modulation (Cervero 2009).

Besides the promising targets for analgesics mentioned previously, purine P2X3 receptor and P2X4 receptor have also received limited attention for their role in pain processing (Rodger 2009). P2X3 receptor is found on nociceptors and is activated by ATP which is released from injured tissue. As ATP can sensitize nociceptors via P2X3 receptors, therefore blocking the receptors may reduce pain. In a state of peripheral sensitization, local release of ATP in the spinal cord stimulates microglia via P2X4 receptor resulting in the formation and release of brain-derived neurotrophic factor (BDNF) (Coull et al. 2005). BDNF acts on tyrosine kinase B (TrkB) which is located close to GABA and glycine receptors. This interaction causes outward movement of Cl<sup>-</sup> through the GABA and glycine receptors creating the membrane depolarization and sensitization (Coull et al. 2005; Rodger 2009). Thus blocking the action of BDNF at TrkB receptor site may prevent or reduce neuropathic and inflammatory pain.

# References

- Ahern GP, Wang X, Miyares RL (2006) Polyamines are potent ligands for the capsaicin receptor TRPV1. J Biol Chem 281, 8991-8995.
- Ahmadi S, Lippross S, Neuhuber WL et al. (2002) PGE(2) selectively blocks inhibitory glycinergic neurotransmission onto rat superficial dorsal horn neurons. Nat Neurosci 5, 34-40.
- Alessandri-Haber N, Dina OA, Chen X et al. (2009) TRPC1 and TRPC6 channels cooperate with TRPV4 to mediate mechanical hyperalgesia and nociceptor sensitization. J Neurosci 29, 6217-6228.
- Almeida TF, Roizenblatt S, Tufik S (2004) Afferent pain pathways: a neuroanatomical review. Brain Res 12, 1-2.
- Amaya F, Wang H, Costigan M et al. (2006) The voltage-gated sodium channel Na(v)1.9 is an effector of peripheral inflammatory pain hypersensitivity. J Neurosci 26, 12852-12860.
- Attal N (2012) Neuropathic pain: mechanisms, therapeutic approach, and interpretation of clinical trials. Continuum 18, 161-175.
- Backonja MM (2002) Use of anticonvulsants for treatment of neuropathic pain. Neurology 59, S14-17.
- Baker MD, Wood JN (2001) Involvement of Na+ channels in pain pathways. Trends Pharmacol Sci 22, 27-31.
- Benemei S, Nicoletti P, Capone JG et al. (2009) Migraine. Handb Exp Pharmacol 194, 75-89.
- Biella G, Panara C, Pecile A et al. (1991) Facilitatory role of calcitonin gene-related peptide (CGRP) on excitation induced by substance P (SP) and noxious stimuli in rat spinal dorsal horn neurons. An iontophoretic study in vivo. Brain Res 559, 352-356.
- Bormann J (2000) The 'ABC' of GABA receptors. Trends Pharmacol Sci 21, 16-19.
- Boscan P, Monnet E, Mama K et al. (2011) Effect of maropitant, a neurokinin 1 receptor antagonist, on anesthetic requirements during noxious visceral stimulation of the ovary in dogs. Am J Vet Res 72, 1576-1579.
- Carlton SM, Du J, Davidson E et al. (2001a) Somatostatin receptors on peripheral primary afferent terminals: inhibition of sensitized nociceptors. Pain 90, 233-244.
- Carlton SM, Du J, Zhou S et al. (2001b) Tonic control of peripheral cutaneous nociceptors by somatostatin receptors. J Neurosci 21, 4042-4049.
- Casarrubea M, Sorbera F, Santangelo A et al. (2012) The effects of diazepam on the behavioral structure of the rat's response to pain in the hot-plate test: anxiolysis vs. pain modulation. Neuropharmacology 63, 310-321.

- Caterina MJ, Schumacher MA, Tominaga M et al. (1997) The capsaicin receptor: a heatactivated ion channel in the pain pathway. Nature 389, 816-824.
- Cattaneo A (2010) Tanezumab, a recombinant humanized mAb against nerve growth factor for the treatment of acute and chronic pain. Curr Opin Mol Ther 12, 94-106.
- Cervero F (2009) Spinal cord hyperexcitability and its role in pain and hyperalgesia. Exp Brain Res 196, 129-137.
- Chen K, Li HZ, Ye N et al. (2005) Role of GABAB receptors in GABA and baclofen-induced inhibition of adult rat cerebellar interpositus nucleus neurons in vitro. Brain Res Bull 67, 310-318.
- Chizh BA (2007) Low dose ketamine: a therapeutic and research tool to explore N-methyl-Daspartate (NMDA) receptor-mediated plasticity in pain pathways. J Psychopharmacol 21, 259-271.
- Cortright DN, Szallasi A (2004) Biochemical pharmacology of the vanilloid receptor TRPV1. An update. Eur J Biochem 271, 1814-1819.
- Coull JA, Beggs S, Boudreau D et al. (2005) BDNF from microglia causes the shift in neuronal anion gradient underlying neuropathic pain. Nature 438, 1017-1021.
- Cox JJ, Reimann F, Nicholas AK et al. (2006) An SCN9A channelopathy causes congenital inability to experience pain. Nature 444, 894-898.
- Cunha TM, Roman-Campos D, Lotufo CM et al. (2010) Morphine peripheral analgesia depends on activation of the PI3Kgamma/AKT/nNOS/NO/KATP signaling pathway. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A 107, 4442-4447.
- De Felipe C, Herrero JF, O'Brien JA et al. (1998) Altered nociception, analgesia and aggression in mice lacking the receptor for substance P. Nature 392, 394-397.
- Deval E, Gasull X, Noel J et al. (2010) Acid-sensing ion channels (ASICs): pharmacology and implication in pain. Pharmacol Ther 128, 549-558.
- Diemunsch P, Joshi GP, Brichant JF (2009) Neurokinin-1 receptor antagonists in the prevention of postoperative nausea and vomiting. Br J Anaesth 103, 7-13.
- Dingledine R, Borges K, Bowie D et al. (1999) The glutamate receptor ion channels. Pharmacol Rev 51, 7-61.
- Djouhri L, Lawson SN (2004) Abeta-fiber nociceptive primary afferent neurons: a review of incidence and properties in relation to other afferent A-fiber neurons in mammals. Brain Res Brain Res Rev 46, 131-145.
- Dugdale A (2010) Veterinary Anaesthesia. (1st edn), John Wiley & Sons, Oxford, UK.
- Duggan AW, Hendry IA, Morton CR et al. (1988) Cutaneous stimuli releasing immunoreactive substance P in the dorsal horn of the cat. Brain Res 451, 261-273.

- Fielding CL, Brumbaugh GW, Matthews NS et al. (2006) Pharmacokinetics and clinical effects of a subanesthetic continuous rate infusion of ketamine in awake horses. Am J Vet Res 67, 1484-1490.
- Fields HL, Heinricher MM, Mason P (1991) Neurotransmitters in nociceptive modulatory circuits. Annu Rev Neurosci 14, 219-245.
- Ford AP (2012) In pursuit of P2X3 antagonists: novel therapeutics for chronic pain and afferent sensitization. Purinergic Signal 8, 3-26.
- Gebhart GF (2004) Descending modulation of pain. Neurosci Biobehav Rev 27, 729-737.
- Gold MS (2008) Na+ channel blockers for the treatment of pain: Context is everything, almost. Experimental Neurology 210, 1-6.
- Grubb T (2010a) Chronic neuropathic pain in veterinary patients. Top Companion Anim Med 25, 45-52.
- Grubb T (2010b) What do we really know about the drugs we use to treat chronic pain? Top Companion Anim Med 25, 10-19.
- Gurnani A, Sharma PK, Rautela RS et al. (1996) Analgesia for acute musculoskeletal trauma: low-dose subcutaneous infusion of ketamine. Anaesth Intensive Care 24, 32-36.
- Hasani A, Jashari H, Gashi V et al. (2012) Propofol and postoperative pain: Systematic review and metaanalysis. In: Pain Management—Current Issues and Opinions. Racz GB & Noe CE (ed)^(eds). InTech, Rijeka, Croatia. pp. 223-242.
- Hayes P, Meadows HJ, Gunthorpe MJ et al. (2000) Cloning and functional expression of a human orthologue of rat vanilloid receptor-1. Pain 88, 205-215.
- Hellyer PW, Robertson SA, Fails AD (2007) Pain and its management. In: Lumb And Jones' Veterinary Anesthesia And Analgesia. (4th edn). Tranquilli WJ, Thurmon JC & Grimm KA (ed)^(eds). Blackwell Pub., Ames. pp. 31-57.
- Himmelseher S, Durieux ME (2005) Ketamine for perioperative pain management. Anesthesiology 102, 211-220.
- Holtman JR, Jr., Crooks PA, Johnson-Hardy JK et al. (2008) Effects of norketamine enantiomers in rodent models of persistent pain. Pharmacol Biochem Behav 90, 676-685.
- Holzer-Petsche U, Rordorf-Nikolic T (1995) Central versus peripheral site of action of the tachykinin NK1-antagonist RP 67580 in inhibiting chemonociception. Br J Pharmacol 115, 486-490.
- Honore P, Wismer CT, Mikusa J et al. (2005) A-425619 [1-isoquinolin-5-yl-3-(4-trifluoromethyl-benzyl)-urea], a novel transient receptor potential type V1 receptor antagonist, relieves pathophysiological pain associated with inflammation and tissue injury in rats. J Pharmacol Exp Ther 314, 410-421.

- Immke DC, Gavva NR (2006) The TRPV1 receptor and nociception. Semin Cell Dev Biol 17, 582-591.
- Immke DC, McCleskey EW (2001) Lactate enhances the acid-sensing Na+ channel on ischemiasensing neurons. Nat Neurosci 4, 869-870.
- Jarvis MF (2003) Contributions of P2X3 homomeric and heteromeric channels to acute and chronic pain. Expert Opin Ther Targets 7, 513-522.
- Jarvis MF, Honore P, Shieh CC et al. (2007) A-803467, a potent and selective Nav1.8 sodium channel blocker, attenuates neuropathic and inflammatory pain in the rat. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A 104, 8520-8525.
- Kidd BL, Urban LA (2001) Mechanisms of inflammatory pain. Br J Anaesth 87, 3-11.
- Kissin I (2008) Vanilloid-induced conduction analgesia: selective, dose-dependent, long-lasting, with a low level of potential neurotoxicity. Anesthesia and analgesia 107, 271-281.
- Knabl J, Witschi R, Hosl K et al. (2008) Reversal of pathological pain through specific spinal GABAA receptor subtypes. Nature 451, 330-334.
- Labrakakis C, Lorenzo LE, Bories C et al. (2009) Inhibitory coupling between inhibitory interneurons in the spinal cord dorsal horn. Mol Pain 5, 1744-8069.
- Lamont LA (2008) Adjunctive analgesic therapy in veterinary medicine. Vet Clin North Am Small Anim Pract 38, 1187-1203.
- Lascelles BD, Gaynor JS, Smith ES et al. (2008) Amantadine in a multimodal analgesic regimen for alleviation of refractory osteoarthritis pain in dogs. J Vet Intern Med 22, 53-59.
- Lee SY, Lee JH, Kang KK et al. (2005) Sensitization of vanilloid receptor involves an increase in the phosphorylated form of the channel. Arch Pharm Res 28, 405-412.
- Lemke KA (2007) Anticholinergics and sedatives. In: Lumb And Jones' Veterinary Anesthesia And Analgesia. Tranquilli WJ, Thurmon JC & Grimm KA (ed)^(eds). Blackwell Pub., Ames.
- Liang YF, Haake B, Reeh PW (2001) Sustained sensitization and recruitment of rat cutaneous nociceptors by bradykinin and a novel theory of its excitatory action. J Physiol 532, 229-239.
- Linley JE, Rose K, Ooi L et al. (2010) Understanding inflammatory pain: ion channels contributing to acute and chronic nociception. Pflugers Arch 459, 657-669.
- Liu XJ, Gingrich JR, Vargas-Caballero M et al. (2008) Treatment of inflammatory and neuropathic pain by uncoupling Src from the NMDA receptor complex. Nat Med 14, 1325-1332.
- Ma A, Turner A (2012) A life without pain: congenital insensitivity to pain due to compound heterozygous SCN9A mutation. J Paediatr Child Health 48, 285-286.

- Maeno H, Kiyama H, Tohyama M (1993) Distribution of the substance P receptor (NK-1 receptor) in the central nervous system. Brain Res Mol Brain Res 18, 43-58.
- Malan TP, Jr., Ibrahim MM, Deng H et al. (2001) CB2 cannabinoid receptor-mediated peripheral antinociception. Pain 93, 239-245.
- Mathews KA (2008) Neuropathic pain in dogs and cats: if only they could tell us if they hurt. Vet Clin North Am Small Anim Pract 38, 1365-1414.
- McDonald J, Lambert DG (2008) Opioid mechanisms and opioid drugs. Anaesthesia & amp; Intensive Care Medicine 9, 33-37.
- Melzack R, Casey KL (1968) Sensory, motivational, and central control determinants of pain: a new conceptual model. In: The skin senses. (1st edn). Kenshalo D (ed)<sup>(eds)</sup>. Thomas, Springfield. pp. 423-443.
- Melzack R, Wall PD (1965) Pain mechanisms: a new theory. Science 150, 971-979.
- Millan MJ (1999) The induction of pain: an integrative review. Prog Neurobiol 57, 1-164.
- Millan MJ (2002) Descending control of pain. Prog Neurobiol 66, 355-474.
- Muir WW (2010) NMDA receptor antagonists and pain: ketamine. Vet Clin North Am Equine Pract 26, 565-578.
- Niyom S, Boscan P, Twedt DC et al. (2013) Effect of maropitant, a neurokinin-1 receptor antagonist, on the sevoflurane minimum alveolar concentration during ovary and ovarian ligament stimulation in cats. In: Manuscript accepted for publication(ed)^(eds).
- Nurmikko TJ, Serpell MG, Hoggart B et al. (2007) Sativex successfully treats neuropathic pain characterised by allodynia: a randomised, double-blind, placebo-controlled clinical trial. Pain 133, 210-220.
- Ossipov MH, Dussor GO, Porreca F (2010) Central modulation of pain. The Journal of Clinical Investigation 120, 3779-3787.
- Owolabi JB, Rizkalla G, Tehim A et al. (1999) Characterization of antiallodynic actions of ALE-0540, a novel nerve growth factor receptor antagonist, in the rat. J Pharmacol Exp Ther 289, 1271-1276.
- Peier AM, Moqrich A, Hergarden AC et al. (2002) A TRP channel that senses cold stimuli and menthol. Cell 108, 705-715.
- Pertwee RG (2001) Cannabinoid receptors and pain. Prog Neurobiol 63, 569-611.
- Petrenko AB, Yamakura T, Baba H et al. (2003) The role of N-methyl-D-aspartate (NMDA) receptors in pain: a review. Anesth Analg 97, 1108-1116.
- Premkumar LS, Ahern GP (2000) Induction of vanilloid receptor channel activity by protein kinase C. Nature 408, 985-990.

- Premkumar LS, Sikand P (2008) TRPV1: a target for next generation analgesics. Curr Neuropharmacol 6, 151-163.
- Prommer EE (2012) Ketamine for pain: an update of uses in palliative care. J Palliat Med 15, 474-483.
- Qian H, Ripps H (2009) Focus on molecules: the GABAC receptor. Exp Eye Res 88, 1002-1003.
- Reid G (2005) ThermoTRP channels and cold sensing: what are they really up to? Pflugers Arch 451, 250-263.
- Reis GM, Duarte ID (2007) Involvement of chloride channel coupled GABA(C) receptors in the peripheral antinociceptive effect induced by GABA(C) receptor agonist cis-4-aminocrotonic acid. Life Sci 80, 1268-1273.
- Robertson SA (2005) Managing pain in feline patients. Vet Clin North Am Small Anim Pract 35, 129-146.
- Rodger IW (2009) Analgesic targets: today and tomorrow. Inflammopharmacology 17, 151-161.
- Rychel JK (2010) Diagnosis and treatment of osteoarthritis. Top Companion Anim Med 25, 20-25.
- Sang CN (2000) NMDA-receptor antagonists in neuropathic pain: experimental methods to clinical trials. J Pain Symptom Manage 19, S21-25.
- Schaible HG (2007) Peripheral and central mechanisms of pain generation. Handb Exp Pharmacol 177, 3-28.
- Schaible HG, Ebersberger A, Natura G (2011) Update on peripheral mechanisms of pain: beyond prostaglandins and cytokines. Arthritis Res Ther 13, 210.
- Schmid RL, Sandler AN, Katz J (1999) Use and efficacy of low-dose ketamine in the management of acute postoperative pain: a review of current techniques and outcomes. Pain 82, 111-125.
- Sills GJ (2006) The mechanisms of action of gabapentin and pregabalin. Curr Opin Pharmacol 6, 108-113.
- Sindrup SH, Otto M, Finnerup NB et al. (2005) Antidepressants in the treatment of neuropathic pain. Basic Clin Pharmacol Toxicol 96, 399-409.
- Stein C, Clark JD, Oh U et al. (2009) Peripheral mechanisms of pain and analgesia. Brain Res Rev 60, 90-113.
- Tominaga M, Caterina MJ (2004) Thermosensation and pain. J Neurobiol 61, 3-12.
- Tominaga M, Caterina MJ, Malmberg AB et al. (1998) The cloned capsaicin receptor integrates multiple pain-producing stimuli. Neuron 21, 531-543.

- Traynelis SF, Wollmuth LP, McBain CJ et al. (2010) Glutamate receptor ion channels: structure, regulation, and function. Pharmacol Rev 62, 405-496.
- Van Der Stelt M, Di Marzo V (2004) Endovanilloids. Putative endogenous ligands of transient receptor potential vanilloid 1 channels. Eur J Biochem 271, 1827-1834.
- van Seventer R, Feister HA, Young JP, Jr. et al. (2006) Efficacy and tolerability of twice-daily pregabalin for treating pain and related sleep interference in postherpetic neuralgia: a 13-week, randomized trial. Curr Med Res Opin 22, 375-384.
- Vinuela-Fernandez I, Jones E, Welsh EM et al. (2007) Pain mechanisms and their implication for the management of pain in farm and companion animals. Vet J 174, 227-239.
- Wagner AE, Walton JA, Hellyer PW et al. (2002) Use of low doses of ketamine administered by constant rate infusion as an adjunct for postoperative analgesia in dogs. J Am Vet Med Assoc 221, 72-75.
- Warner TD, Mitchell JA (2004) Cyclooxygenases: new forms, new inhibitors, and lessons from the clinic. The FASEB Journal 18, 790-804.
- Watkins LR, Hutchinson MR, Ledeboer A et al. (2007) Norman Cousins Lecture. Glia as the "bad guys": implications for improving clinical pain control and the clinical utility of opioids. Brain Behav Immun 21, 131-146.
- Watson JJ, Allen SJ, Dawbarn D (2008) Targeting nerve growth factor in pain: what is the therapeutic potential? BioDrugs 22, 349-359.
- Willis WD, Jr. (2009) The role of TRPV1 receptors in pain evoked by noxious thermal and chemical stimuli. Exp Brain Res 196, 5-11.
- Winquist RJ, Pan JQ, Gribkoff VK (2005) Use-dependent blockade of Cav2.2 voltage-gated calcium channels for neuropathic pain. Biochem Pharmacol 70, 489-499.
- Wirkner K, Sperlagh B, Illes P (2007) P2X3 receptor involvement in pain states. Mol Neurobiol 36, 165-183.
- Wong GY, Gavva NR (2009) Therapeutic potential of vanilloid receptor TRPV1 agonists and antagonists as analgesics: Recent advances and setbacks. Brain Res Rev 60, 267-277.
- Yang K, Wang D, Li YQ (2001) Distribution and depression of the GABA(B) receptor in the spinal dorsal horn of adult rat. Brain Res Bull 55, 479-485.
- Zeilhofer HU (2008) Loss of glycinergic and GABAergic inhibition in chronic paincontributions of inflammation and microglia. Int Immunopharmacol 8, 182-187.
- Zhang L, Hoff AO, Wimalawansa SJ et al. (2001) Arthritic calcitonin/alpha calcitonin generelated peptide knockout mice have reduced nociceptive hypersensitivity. Pain 89, 265-273.
- Zhang XF, Shieh CC, Chapman ML et al. (2010) A-887826 is a structurally novel, potent and voltage-dependent Na(v)1.8 sodium channel blocker that attenuates neuropathic tactile allodynia in rats. Neuropharmacology 59, 201-207.
- Zhang Y, Wang YH, Ge HY et al. (2008) A transient receptor potential vanilloid 4 contributes to mechanical allodynia following chronic compression of dorsal root ganglion in rats. Neurosci Lett 432, 222-227.
- Zhu JJ, Lo FS (1999) Three GABA receptor-mediated postsynaptic potentials in interneurons in the rat lateral geniculate nucleus. J Neurosci 19, 5721-5730.

#### CHAPTER 2: ANIMAL MODELS OF PAIN

### Introduction

Understanding of the fundamental physiology of pain has increased vastly over the past few decades. Animal models of pain have been a vital component of this progress, and remain important for understanding of the mechanisms of pain, identifying novel pharmacological targets in pain therapy, improving pain treatments, as well as finding clinical dosing of analgesic drugs (Mogil et al. 2010). Early investigative efforts focused on animal models of acute and nociceptive pain evaluating the effects of physiological pain on healthy tissue by applying quantifiable noxious stimulus to the animal until a response is evoked. Subsequently pain models have sought to explore mechanisms of pathological pain arising from inflammation as well as neuropathic pain and that caused by disease (Mogil 2009).

A critical problem of pain assays is that pain itself is very subjective and highly individualized making it difficult to assess, especially when the subjects are non-verbal. Therefore, to quantify pain in animals, nociceptive behavioral and physiological responses to noxious stimulation are utilized as indirect indicators of pain.

Nociceptive behavioral responses observed in animals may be categorized as reflexive (withdrawal), voluntary, and chronic pain behaviors.

Reflexive behaviors: Reflex actions are evoked by noxious stimuli and act as a protective mechanism to prevent tissue injury. They may be involuntary movements to noxious sensory input mediated through the spinal cord via motor nerves or a conscious response to avoid further damage. Flexor reflexes (e.g. limb flexor reflex) are commonly used in pain experiments where animals are stimulated by a noxious stimulus (e.g. heat) and assessed for a specific reflexive response. However, these responses are not specific to nociceptive stimuli and interfered by other factors; for example, an increase in surface temperature may facilitate the nociceptive  $R_{III}$  reflex from a knee-flexor muscle in humans (Plaghki et al. 1998). These reflexive withdrawals are a function of the spinal reflex arc and remain intact even in spinal animals (animals with transected spinal cords). Thus results obtained from reflexive behavior assessments are limited and may not represent the pain experience which intensely involves processing of supraspinal structures.

Voluntary behaviors: Simple purposeful innate behaviors such as vocalizing, licking, biting, skin twitching and checking a limb in response to noxious stimulation may be considered as indicators of pain. These behaviors are more complex than the spinal reflexes; however, they can be found in both decerebrate and intact animals (Woolf 1984; Matthies & Franklin 1992). Hence caution is needed in interpreting these innate behaviors.

Chronic pain behaviors: Responses to ongoing nociceptive input are expected to be prolonged and have an impact on health quality. Hyperalgesia and allodynia are characteristics of chronic pain along with systemic behaviors such as anxiety, decreased social interaction (Benbouzid et al. 2008), reduced sympathetic responsivity (Vierck et al. 2008), weight loss (Abbadie et al. 1994), and poor sleep quality (Andersen & Tufik 2003).

Physiological responses to a noxious stimulation have also been assessed and measured as pain indicators in non-verbal patients such as human infants (Raeside 2011) and animals (Bufalari et al. 2007). Physiological signs that may indicate pain include tachypnea, tachycardia, hypertension, dilated pupils and increases in plasma cortisol and epinephrine levels (Mathews 2000). Pain stimulates the hypothalamo-pituitary-adrenal axis and the sympathetic nervous system resulting in release of cortisol (Mormede et al. 2007) and catecholamines (Huskisson 1974) respectively. However other factors such as stress conditions and trauma also activate these systems, therefore, elevations of the hormone levels may be not related directly to pain (Mormede et al. 2007; Ledowski et al. 2012). An increase in glucose and lactate production in response to cortisol and catecholamine induced-glycogenolysis might be utilized to assess pain condition (Prunier et al. 2005). Plasma  $\beta$ -endorphin is another potential indicator which may be correlated with pain (McCarthy et al. 1993; Raekallio et al. 1997).

#### Pain assessment tools in animal models assessing behavior

To identify pain in animals, the two main tools used to assess pain in animals are pain scaling systems and analgesiometers. They both were developed with the objective of having accurate and validated techniques to facilitate effective pain management strategies.

#### Pain scaling systems

Pain scaling systems are utilized in both preclinical and clinical pain studies. In animal models the first few pain scales were modified from the human pain scales. For example, in 1978 LaMotte and Campbell compared the nociceptive responses to intensity of thermal stimulation in monkeys with a scale used on human being to assess response to thermally induced pain (LaMotte & Campbell 1978); Taylor and Houlton (1984) investigated the postoperative analgesic effect of morphine, buprenorphine and pentazocine in dogs following orthopedic surgery using a numerical rating scale (NRS) and the simple descriptive scale (SDS) (Taylor & Houlton 1984). Likewise the visual analogue scale (VAS) that has been used widely in humans was also applied in to compare the postoperative analgesic effect between pain medications in dogs (Reid & Nolan 1991; Nolan & Reid 1993).

These simple pain scales, VAS, NRS and SDS, rate the pain behavior based on the pain intensity. VAS (Figure 2.1) is a pain measurement instrument using a 100 mm line with the ends anchored such that 0 mm is indicating no pain and 100 mm is indicating worst pain imaginable. Investigators place a mark on the line corresponding to their perception of pain based on the animal's behavior. The SDS usually consists of 3 to 5 numerical reference points associated with different characteristic physiology/behaviors which become the pain score for the patient. Each number is assigned an expression of the animal that describes a value of pain intensity (e.g. no pain, mild, moderate or severe pain) (Hansen 2003). The NRS in animal studies usually is a numbered scale of 4- to 10- points; the end points representing the extreme of pain intensity. Observers assign a number that relates to the animal's current level of pain. Despite significant attempts at refinement, these simple subjective scales have been shown to have high intra- and inter-observer variability in the assessment of acute pain in dogs (Holton et al. 1998). They also only rely on the intensity of pain to make a determination and so scores may not represent the experience of pain which is a complex phenomenon. Attempts to develop more objective and multi-dimension pain scoring systems in animals have therefore also been initiated in 1985. Morton and Griffiths (1985) proposed a composite scale by defining species specific signs of behavior and changes of physiological parameters that indicate pain, then refining them into multiple categories and assigning a score within each. The scale consists of 4 categories including bodyweight, appearance, clinical signs, unprovoked behavior, and responses to external stimuli. The sum of these scores was interpreted as the pain status of the animals (Morton & Griffiths 1985). From there on, more pain scales that are specific to species and types of pain have been developed such as the Melbourne Pain Scale for evaluation of postoperative pain in dogs (Firth & Haldane 1999), the Glasgow Composite Pain Scale which is a behaviorbased composite scale to assess acute pain in dogs (Holton et al. 2001), and a composite pain scale for assessing acute postoperative pain in cats undergoing ovariohysterectomy (Brondani et al. 2011).



Figure 2.1 Visual analogue scale (VAS)

#### Analgesiometers

In trying to design objective instruments for pain studies, analgesiometry devices have been created in an effort to produce a quantifiable noxious stimulus in order to measure nociceptive threshold. The noxious stimuli applied in animal models include thermal, electrical, chemical and mechanical stimuli. Even though this has been used several times in the past, electric shock is controversial to use as a noxious stimulus because it is not a natural type of noxious stimulus and excites non-nociceptive  $A\beta$  fibers as well as nociceptive A and C fibers (Le Bars et al. 2001).

Thermal noxious stimuli may be applied using a tail immersion, a hot plate, and other heating devices which are designed to apply the noxious stimulus to the animals until a nociceptive response is elicited. Mechanical stimulating devices, such as algometry, Von Frey filaments and other force applying devices, input quantifiable pressure to stimulate the animal responses. The tests using these analgesiometers are explained below under Acute pain model and Inflammatory pain model.

#### **Experimental models of pain**

Animal pain models that have been developed in pain research can be classified into at least four categories: acute, inflammatory, neuropathic, and clinically oriented pain models (Mogil 2009).

# Acute pain model

This model allows the investigators to understand the mechanisms of pain and evaluate the analgesic efficacy of pain medications in normal animals. Reflexive and voluntary behaviors responding to noxious stimuli (thermal, mechanical and chemical stimuli) are commonly used as indicators of pain in this model. Based on the application site of the noxious stimulus the model may be categorized into somatic and visceral pain testing.

#### Somatic pain testing

Tail-flick and hot plate tests were the first and second most common tests of nociception in rodents between 1970 and 1999 (Le Bars et al. 2001). The tail-flick latency test was first devised by D'Amour and Smith in 1941 (D'Amour & Smith 1941) for measuring pain sensation in rats. The animal tail is stimulated by radiant noxious heat until it provokes a withdrawal reflex noted by defensive movement of the tail of the animal. The reaction time of this movement known as tail-flick latency is recorded. An alternate heat source used to assess the tail-flick is hot water. Immersion of tail in hot water stimulates a strong tail movement and a flinch of the whole body (Sewell & Spencer 1976; Statile et al. 1988), similarly latency time of the reaction is recorded. The immersion test has been used mostly in rodents but reported also in monkeys (Dykstra & Woods 1986). Hot plate was first described in 1944 in the evaluation of analgesics in rodents. The subject is put into an open-ended cylindrical space with a metallic floor plate that is heated at a consistent rate of rise, and the temperature of 55°C, 60°C, 65°C and 70°C were used to test (Woolfe & MacDonald 1944). Avoidance responses such as jumping and licking are observed, and the reaction time is measured for each temperature. Hargreaves test (Hargreaves et al. 1988) or plantar test is another method measuring the thermal nociceptive threshold. The test applies a high-intensity beam of light directed at hindpaws of a freely moving animal in a clear plastic chamber. The time that the animal takes to withdraw its hindpaw is recorded as withdrawal latency. This test too has been used mainly in rodents, and can be applied to measure thermal threshold in amphibians such as the frog (Coble et al. 2011).

The first mechanical nociceptive threshold test in rodents was devised in 1929. (Bianchi & Franceschini 1954). From there on, a number of mechanical threshold testing devices in animals have been developed in attempting to improve the specificity, reliability and sensitivity of the assessments. In general the devices apply an increasing measurable pressure at the tail or paw until the withdrawal reflex is observed; the pressure that evokes the response is recorded as the threshold. The prolongation of the withdrawal reflexes and escape behaviors, as well as a higher intensity tolerated by the animal are interpreted as increases of the nociceptive thresholds.

For the tests using chemical stimulation, acetic acid has been used as an algogenic substance to investigate the analgesic effect of drugs. The lowest concentration of acetic acid is applied on the skin at a specific area and continued with increasing concentrations until the animal vigorously wipes the affected area. The first concentration of acetic acid that provokes a wiping response is considered the nociceptive threshold (Pezalla 1983; Stevens et al. 2001; Coble et al. 2011).

Analgesiometers have also been developed for acute pain testing in other animal species that differ from rodents in anatomy and behavior. In dogs and cats, nociceptive threshold testing devices have been developed using different kinds of noxious stimulus, i.e., thermal (Andrews & Workman 1941; Winter & Flataker 1953; Vaupel 1989; Ylisela & Vainio 1989; Barnhart et al. 2000; Steagall et al. 2007; Wegner et al. 2008), mechanical (Martin et al. 1964; Martin et al. 1974; Martin et al. 1976; Hamlin et al. 1988; Rudo et al. 1989; Vaupel 1989; Lascelles et al. 1997; Barnhart et al. 2000; Dixon et al. 2007; Steagall et al. 2007; Slingsby et al. 2011) and electrical stimuli (Kaymakcalan et al. 1974; Skingle & Tyers 1979; Skingle & Tyers 1980; Skingle et al. 1982; Hayes et al. 1986; Hamlin et al. 1988; Vainio et al. 1989; Brown et al. 2002; Bergadano et al. 2009; van Oostrom et al. 2011). In horses, pressure algometry, a mechanical instrument to quantify mechanical nociceptive thresholds within musculoskeletal structures in human, provides a quantitative and repeatable method for assessing musculoskeletal pain both in axial skeleton (Haussler & Erb 2006a; Haussler & Erb 2006b) and thoracic limb (Haussler et al. 2007). In farm animals (e.g., sheep, cattle, pig) the nociceptive measurements that have been used include radiant thermal stimulating devices (Nolan et al. 1987; Whay et al. 1997; Machado Filho et al. 1998; Herskin et al. 2003) and force applying devices (Nolan et al. 1987; Ley et al. 1996; Whay et al. 1997; Sandercock et al. 2009).

### Visceral pain testing

To assess nociceptive responses in viscera, many visceral pain models have been devised. The writhing test is the early attempt to induce visceral pain in animals by intraperitoneal injection of irritants, such as acetic acid, and phenylquinone (Siegmund et al. 1957; Blumberg et al. 1965; Singh et al. 1983). After the administration the abdominal constrictions (writhing episodes) which are considered as nociceptive behavior in response to the irritant, are counted during a period of time. However this method lacks selectivity on the viscera and causes animal under suffering; consequently, newer methods were invented to apply a finite noxious stimulation specifically to each organ such as colon, urinary bladder, stomach, uterus and ovary. For example a balloon is inserted into the hollow organ and distended to stimulate the wall of the organ as a noxious stimulus (Ness & Gebhart 1990; Ness et al. 2001; Christianson & Gebhart 2007). Responses including skeletal muscle contraction, heart rate and blood pressure elevations are monitored and recorded. Electromyographic recordings may also be used to count and record muscle contraction. For the ovary, a new technique has been recently presented to determine the minimum alveolar concentration (MAC) in anesthetized dogs by applying a force on ovary and ovarian ligament which can evoke purposeful movements. This model has been validated for induction of visceral pain (Boscan et al. 2011).

### Inflammatory pain model

The objective of this model is to induce a painful condition that mimics clinical pain of inflammatory. Inflammatory pain is a big health issue causing suffering to millions in both humans and animals especially chronic inflammation such as arthritis and inflammatory bowel disease. Unlike pain originated from acute inflammation that act as a physiological function to prevent further damage and cease after the noxious stimulus is removed, chronic inflammation pain occurs when healing persists beyond the expected time, due to ongoing of inflammatory process. The model has helped scientists understand the underlying mechanism of inflammatory pain and develop potential treatments. To induce inflammation, irritating substances or the inflammatory mediator is injected into the body part of an animal such as the hindpaws. Formalin, carrageenan, capsaicin, and complete Freund's adjuvant (CFA) are common inflammatory substances that can irritate tissue and provoke inflammatory responses. After the induction of inflammation the measurement of pain responses, such as withdrawal latency and tail-flick latency, using analgesiometry is performed over time (hours to days depending on the lasting effect of a specific substance) compared to baseline values obtained prior to the substance administration. In general tissue inflammation lowers the nociceptive threshold, and/or reduces the latency period. Allodynia may be induced in the model and evaluated using Von Frey filaments.

Von Frey filaments are a typical mechanical nociceptive threshold testing device for inflammatory pain model, both in animals and human beings. A set of Von Frey filaments consist of various calibrated nylon monofilaments of varying diameter. The filaments are pressed against the skin with force so that the filaments bend and form U shapes providing for a constant applied force in each filament size. This tool can detect mechanical allodynia in models of inflammatory and neuropathic pain.

#### Neuropathic pain model

Each year an estimated 4 million people in the United States suffer from neuropathic pain (Chen et al. 2004). Neuropathic pain is initiated or caused by a lesion or disease of the somatosensory nervous system as defined by International association for the study of pain. It is a complex disorder and remains a challenge to treat. Based on the location of injury neuropathic pain can be divided into peripheral neuropathic pain and central neuropathic pain. Peripheral neuropathic pain occurs following a lesion of the peripheral somatosensory nervous system while central neuropathic pain is resulted from injury at the central somatosensory neurons (Xu et al. 2012). To understand the mechanisms behind it, neuropathic pain models in animals have been developed.

Experimental anesthesia dolorosa or axotomy model is the oldest model of neuropathic pain (Wall et al. 1979). Hind limbs of the animals (rats and mice) are deafferented by complete transection of the sciatic and saphenous nerves. Following the transection some animals develop self-mutilating behaviors, such as biting and attacking the denervated hind limbs, which may reflect phantom and spontaneous pain in humans.

Chronic constriction injury, partial sciatic nerve injury, spinal nerve ligation, spared nerve ligation and common peroneal nerve ligation are techniques used more commonly for studying the peripheral neuropathic pain. Sciatic and infraorbital nerves are common targets of the chronic constriction model in rats. Placing constrictive ligatures around the nerves can produce allodynia, hyperalgesia and possibly spontaneous pain similar to what is observed in human patients.

Partial sciatic nerve injury was first developed in rats as a behavioral model of causalgiform pain disorders. At the level of the upper thigh sciatic nerve is ligated tightly with an 8-0 silicon-treated silk suture, and about 1/3 - 1/2 of the nerve thickness was trapped in the ligature (Seltzer et al. 1990). The animals in this model develop touch-evoked allodynia, hyperalgesia and sympathic dependent pain which parallel to causalgia pain in humans.

42

Spinal nerve ligation is another animal model for the peripheral neuropathic pain. L5 and L6 spinal nerves are ligated tightly distal to the dorsal root ganglia with silk suture. A long-lasting hyperalgesia to noxious heat and mechanical allodynia on the injured hind limbs are developed (Kim & Chung 1992).

Spared nerve ligation is a method that allows researchers to investigate relative changes in damaged nerves and neighboring intact sensory neurons by an axotomy and ligation two (tibial and common peroneal nerves) of the three terminal branches of the sciatic nerve and leaving one (sural nerve) intact (Decosterd & Woolf 2000). The spared nerve ligation has been shown to induce prolonged changes in mechanical and thermal pain sensitivity and mimic closely to the changes observed in clinical neuropathic conditions in humans (Decosterd & Woolf 2000; Erichsen & Blackburn-Munro 2002).

Ligation of common peroneal nerve assesses nociceptive responses in a neuropathic pain model without affecting motor function. This technique is less invasive but evokes long-lasting behavioral allodynia and thermal hyperalgesia in mice (Vadakkan et al. 2005).

In addition to the experiment models of neuropathic pain caused by peripheral nerve ligation and transection, models of sciatic cryoneurolysis using a cryoprobe to develop peripheral neuropathy by freezing the proximal sciatic nerve (DeLeo et al. 1994; Willenbring et al. 1995), models of sciatic inflammatory neuritis induced by injection of antigen such as zymosan (yeast cell walls) around the sciatic nerve (Chacur et al. 2001), models of neuropathy induced by chemotherapy such as vincristine (Authier et al. 2003) and paclitaxel (Polomano et al. 2001), photochemical-induced (Kupers et al. 1998) and laser-induced (Chiang et al. 2005) sciatic nerve injury have been used to study the painful neuropathy due to variable causes (Jaggi et al. 2011).

For central neuropathic pain study a number of animal models of spinal cord injury have been developed. Various techniques to induce injury at the spinal cord have been utilized, i.e., spinal cord contusion or hemicontusion, spinal cord transection or hemisection, photochemicalinduced ischemia, and excitatory neurotoxins intrathecal injection models. Most animals developed thermal hypersensitivity and mechanical allodynia over different durations (week to month based on technique inducing injury) (Nakae et al. 2011). However, the models also induce motor dysfunctions, hence the result interpretation has proven to be difficult and potentially misleading.

### Clinically oriented pain models

A number of diseases can induce pain, i.e., osteoarthritis, cancer, diabetes, and pancreatitis. These types of pain are typically chronic, may be severe and therefore difficult to treat. Understanding the mechanisms of pain with these diseases is necessary to develop appropriate pain management. In models of osteoarthritis many substances have been used for intra-articular injection to induce inflammation in joints of subjects; monoiodoacetate, kaolin-carrageenan, Freund's adjuvant and sodium urate. Assessment of pain can be performed by scaling systems, gait analysis, range of motion analysis, weight distribution, Hargreaves and hotplate to determine thermal hyperalgesia, force applying devices to detect mechanical hyperalgesia and Von Frey filaments to state mechanical allodynia (Neugebauer et al. 2007).

Streptozocin is administered intraperitoneally in rats to induce diabetic neuropathy (Courteix et al. 1993). This drug is a selective toxin of  $\beta$  cells in the pancreatic islet cells (Calcutt et al. 1996). Following the injection the animals demonstrate hyperglycemia, allodynia

and hyperalgesia that may reflect signs observed in human patients with diabetic neuropathy (Courteix et al. 1994).

Rodent models of cancer pain have been developed in the last decade. Implanting cancer cells in a specific organ may be used to induce cancer in animals. Investigation of pain in these models is very useful to understand the pain mechanisms of each type of cancer and test novel drugs for cancer pain treatment. In bone cancer model, the rodents receive intra-bone (mostly in tibia medullary cavity) injections of cancer cells, such as mammary gland carcinoma, sarcoma, and fibrosarcoma cells (Pacharinsak & Beitz 2008). The cancer-induced animals develop pain behaviors, mechanical allodynia, and mechanical hyperalgesia (Medhurst et al. 2002; Mao-Ying et al. 2006). Until now the pain models of bone cancer, facial cancer (Ono et al. 2012), melanoma skin cancer (Fujita et al. 2010), and oral cancer (Nagamine et al. 2006) have been established and investigated in rodents.

Animal pain models have been proved to play a vital role in pain research. Studies can provide fundamental understanding of pain mechanisms and improve the pain treatment but translation directly from basic animal experimental findings to clinical manifestations is challenging. In particular the knowledge obtained from acute assays needs to be interpreted carefully as discussed and reviewed by Le Bars et al. (2001). Briefly, clinical pain tends to more severe than responses to the testing around the nociceptive threshold, and the responses evoked from healthy tissue in acute models and pathologic tissue in clinical patients differs. No test of nociception presently possess all performance characteristics, i.e., sensitivity, specificity, validity, reproducibility and repeatability or reliability (Le Bars et al. 2001). Although a number of contemporary animal pain models are better designed to reflect clinical pain, the experimental condition may interfere with the results of the test. For example, the investigator-animal interaction, the animal handling and the research environment that might induce stress and anxiety are likely to affect the pain tolerance and responses in the animals (Kornetsky 1954; Calcagnetti & Holtzman 1992; Rosellini et al. 1994; Chesler et al. 2002). Therefore the information obtained from the laboratory models need to be translated with caution.

Pain clinical trials are studies that evaluate clinically the analgesic efficacy of potential analgesic drugs which previously demonstrated promising results in laboratory animal models. The testing drug is administered to clinical patients. The trials reveal how the clinical pain condition responds to the treatment and determine side effects of the drug. For example, the testing of the analgesic efficacy of intrathecal resiniferatoxin, a potent capsaicin analog, in clinical canine patients with bone cancer pain (Brown et al. 2005), and the evaluation of the postoperative analgesic efficacy of low dose ketamine as an adjunct analgesic in dogs undergoing a forelimb amputation (Wagner et al. 2002). Clinical trials can translate the information from the laboratory experiments into clinical use directly. The findings obtained from the clinical trials are useful; however, ethical issues need to be considered if other analgesic modulates are denied.

### References

- Abbadie C, Besson JM, Calvino B (1994) c-Fos expression in the spinal cord and pain-related symptoms induced by chronic arthritis in the rat are prevented by pretreatment with Freund adjuvant. J Neurosci 14, 5865-5871.
- Andersen ML, Tufik S (2003) Sleep patterns over 21-day period in rats with chronic constriction of sciatic nerve. Brain Res 984, 84-92.
- Andrews HL, Workman W (1941) Pain threshold measurements in the dog. J Pharmacol Exp Ther 73, 99-103.
- Authier N, Gillet JP, Fialip J et al. (2003) A new animal model of vincristine-induced nociceptive peripheral neuropathy. Neurotoxicology 24, 797-805.
- Barnhart MD, Hubbell JAE, Muir WW (2000) Evaluation of the analgesic properties of acepromazine maleate, oxymorphone, medetomidine and a combination of acepromazine-oxymorphone. Vet Anaesth Analg 27, 89-96.
- Benbouzid M, Pallage V, Rajalu M et al. (2008) Sciatic nerve cuffing in mice: a model of sustained neuropathic pain. Eur J Pain 12, 591-599.
- Bergadano A, Andersen OK, Arendt-Nielsen L et al. (2009) Plasma levels of a low-dose constant-rate-infusion of ketamine and its effect on single and repeated nociceptive stimuli in conscious dogs. The Veterinary Journal 182, 252-260.
- Bianchi C, Franceschini J (1954) Experimental observations on Haffner's method for testing analgesic drugs. Br J Pharmacol Chemother 9, 280-284.
- Blumberg H, Wolf PS, Dayton HB (1965) Use of Writhing Test for Evaluating Analgesic Activity of Narcotic Antagonists. Proc Soc Exp Biol Med 118, 763-766.
- Boscan P, Monnet E, Mama K et al. (2011) A dog model to study ovary, ovarian ligament and visceral pain. Vet Anaesth Analg 38, 260-266.
- Brondani JT, Luna SP, Padovani CR (2011) Refinement and initial validation of a multidimensional composite scale for use in assessing acute postoperative pain in cats. Am J Vet Res 72, 174-183.
- Brown DC, Bernier N, Shofer F et al. (2002) Use of noninvasive dental dolorimetry to evaluate analgesic effects of intravenous and intrathecal administration of morphine in anesthetized dogs. Am J Vet Res 63, 1349-1353.
- Brown DC, Iadarola MJ, Perkowski SZ et al. (2005) Physiologic and antinociceptive effects of intrathecal resiniferatoxin in a canine bone cancer model. Anesthesiology 103, 1052-1059.
- Bufalari A, Adami C, Angeli G et al. (2007) Pain assessment in animals. Vet Res Commun 1, 55-58.

- Calcagnetti DJ, Holtzman SG (1992) Potentiation of morphine analgesia in rats given a single exposure to restraint stress immobilization. Pharmacol Biochem Behav 41, 449-453.
- Calcutt NA, Jorge MC, Yaksh TL et al. (1996) Tactile allodynia and formalin hyperalgesia in streptozotocin-diabetic rats: effects of insulin, aldose reductase inhibition and lidocaine. Pain 68, 293-299.
- Chacur M, Milligan ED, Gazda LS et al. (2001) A new model of sciatic inflammatory neuritis (SIN): induction of unilateral and bilateral mechanical allodynia following acute unilateral peri-sciatic immune activation in rats. Pain 94, 231-244.
- Chen H, Lamer TJ, Rho RH et al. (2004) Contemporary management of neuropathic pain for the primary care physician. Mayo Clin Proc 79, 1533-1545.
- Chesler EJ, Wilson SG, Lariviere WR et al. (2002) Identification and ranking of genetic and laboratory environment factors influencing a behavioral trait, thermal nociception, via computational analysis of a large data archive. Neurosci Biobehav Rev 26, 907-923.
- Chiang H-Y, Chen C-T, Chien H-F et al. (2005) Skin denervation, neuropathology, and neuropathic pain in a laser-induced focal neuropathy. Neurobiology of Disease 18, 40-53.
- Christianson JA, Gebhart GF (2007) Assessment of colon sensitivity by luminal distension in mice. Nat Protoc 2, 2624-2631.
- Coble DJ, Taylor DK, Mook DM (2011) Analgesic effects of meloxicam, morphine sulfate, flunixin meglumine, and xylazine hydrochloride in African-clawed frogs (Xenopus laevis). J Am Assoc Lab Anim Sci 50, 355-360.
- Courteix C, Bardin M, Chantelauze C et al. (1994) Study of the sensitivity of the diabetesinduced pain model in rats to a range of analgesics. Pain 57, 153-160.
- Courteix C, Eschalier A, Lavarenne J (1993) Streptozocin-induced diabetic rats: behavioural evidence for a model of chronic pain. Pain 53, 81-88.
- D'Amour FE, Smith DL (1941) A method for determining loss of pain sensation. J Pharmacol Exp Ther 72, 74-79.
- Decosterd I, Woolf CJ (2000) Spared nerve injury: an animal model of persistent peripheral neuropathic pain. Pain 87, 149-158.
- DeLeo JA, Coombs DW, Willenbring S et al. (1994) Characterization of a neuropathic pain model: sciatic cryoneurolysis in the rat. Pain 56, 9-16.
- Dixon MJ, Taylor PM, Steagall PVM et al. (2007) Development of a pressure nociceptive threshold testing device for evaluation of analgesics in cats. Research in Veterinary Science 82, 85-92.
- Dykstra LA, Woods JH (1986) A tail withdrawal procedure for assessing analgesic activity in rhesus monkeys. J Pharmacol Methods 15, 263-269.

- Erichsen HK, Blackburn-Munro G (2002) Pharmacological characterisation of the spared nerve injury model of neuropathic pain. Pain 98, 151-161.
- Firth AM, Haldane SL (1999) Development of a scale to evaluate postoperative pain in dogs. J Am Vet Med Assoc 214, 651-659.
- Fujita M, Andoh T, Ohashi K et al. (2010) Roles of kinin B1 and B2 receptors in skin cancer pain produced by orthotopic melanoma inoculation in mice. Eur J Pain 14, 588-594.
- Hamlin RL, Bednarski LS, Schuler CJ et al. (1988) Method of objective assessment of analgesia in the dog. J Vet Pharmacol Ther 11, 215-220.
- Hansen BD (2003) Assessment of pain in dogs: veterinary clinical studies. Ilar J 44, 197-205.
- Hargreaves K, Dubner R, Brown F et al. (1988) A new and sensitive method for measuring thermal nociception in cutaneous hyperalgesia. Pain 32, 77-88.
- Haussler KK, Erb HN (2006a) Mechanical nociceptive thresholds in the axial skeleton of horses. Equine Vet J 38, 70-75.
- Haussler KK, Erb HN (2006b) Pressure algometry for the detection of induced back pain in horses: a preliminary study. Equine Vet J 38, 76-81.
- Haussler KK, Hill AE, Frisbie DD et al. (2007) Determination and use of mechanical nociceptive thresholds of the thoracic limb to assess pain associated with induced osteoarthritis of the middle carpal joint in horses. Am J Vet Res 68, 1167-1176.
- Hayes AG, Skingle M, Tyers MB (1986) Alpha-adrenoceptor-mediated antinociception and sedation in the rat and dog. Neuropharmacology 25, 391-396.
- Herskin MS, Muller R, Schrader L et al. (2003) A laser-based method to measure thermal nociception in dairy cows: short-term repeatability and effects of power output and skin condition. J Anim Sci 81, 945-954.
- Holton L, Reid J, Scott EM et al. (2001) Development of a behaviour-based scale to measure acute pain in dogs. Vet Rec 148, 525-531.
- Holton LL, Scott EM, Nolan AM et al. (1998) Comparison of three methods used for assessment of pain in dogs. J Am Vet Med Assoc 212, 61-66.
- Huskisson EC (1974) Catecholamine excretion and pain. Br J Clin Pharmacol 1, 80-82.
- Jaggi AS, Jain V, Singh N (2011) Animal models of neuropathic pain. Fundam Clin Pharmacol 25, 1-28.
- Kaymakcalan S, Turker RK, Turker MN (1974) Analgesic effect of delta 9-tetrahydrocannabinol in the dog. Psychopharmacologia 35, 123-128.
- Kim SH, Chung JM (1992) An experimental model for peripheral neuropathy produced by segmental spinal nerve ligation in the rat. Pain 50, 355-363.

- Kornetsky C (1954) Effects of anxiety and morphine on the anticipation and perception of painful radiant thermal stimuli. J Comp Physiol Psychol 47, 130-132.
- Kupers R, Yu W, Persson JK et al. (1998) Photochemically-induced ischemia of the rat sciatic nerve produces a dose-dependent and highly reproducible mechanical, heat and cold allodynia, and signs of spontaneous pain. Pain 76, 45-59.
- LaMotte RH, Campbell JN (1978) Comparison of responses of warm and nociceptive C-fiber afferents in monkey with human judgments of thermal pain. J Neurophysiol 41, 509-528.
- Lascelles BD, Cripps PJ, Jones A et al. (1997) Post-operative central hypersensitivity and pain: the pre-emptive value of pethidine for ovariohysterectomy. Pain 73, 461-471.
- Le Bars D, Gozariu M, Cadden SW (2001) Animal models of nociception. Pharmacol Rev 53, 597-652.
- Ledowski T, Reimer M, Chavez V et al. (2012) Effects of acute postoperative pain on catecholamine plasma levels, hemodynamic parameters, and cardiac autonomic control. Pain 153, 759-764.
- Ley SJ, Waterman AE, Livingston A (1996) Measurement of mechanical thresholds, plasma cortisol and catecholamines in control and lame cattle: a preliminary study. Res Vet Sci 61, 172-173.
- Machado Filho LC, Hurnik JF, Ewing KK (1998) A thermal threshold assay to measure the nociceptive response to morphine sulphate in cattle. Can J Vet Res 62, 218-223.
- Mao-Ying QL, Zhao J, Dong ZQ et al. (2006) A rat model of bone cancer pain induced by intratibia inoculation of Walker 256 mammary gland carcinoma cells. Biochem Biophys Res Commun 345, 1292-1298.
- Martin WR, Eades CG, Fraser HF et al. (1964) Use of Hindlimb Reflexes of the Chronic Spinal Dog for Comparing Analgesics. J Pharmacol Exp Ther 144, 8-11.
- Martin WR, Eades CG, Thompson JA et al. (1976) The effects of morphine- and nalorphine- like drugs in the nondependent and morphine-dependent chronic spinal dog. J Pharmacol Exp Ther 197, 517-532.
- Martin WR, Eades CG, Thompson WO et al. (1974) Morphine physical dependence in the dog. J Pharmacol Exp Ther 189, 759-771.
- Mathews KA (2000) Pain assessment and general approach to management. Vet Clin North Am Small Anim Pract 30, 729-755.
- Matthies BK, Franklin KB (1992) Formalin pain is expressed in decerebrate rats but not attenuated by morphine. Pain 51, 199-206.
- McCarthy RN, Jeffcott LB, Clarke IJ (1993) Preliminary studies on the use of plasma  $\beta$ endorphin in horses as an indicator of stress and pain. Journal of Equine Veterinary Science 13, 216-219.

- Medhurst SJ, Walker K, Bowes M et al. (2002) A rat model of bone cancer pain. Pain 96, 129-140.
- Mogil JS (2009) Animal models of pain: progress and challenges. Nat Rev Neurosci 10, 283-294.
- Mogil JS, Davis KD, Derbyshire SW (2010) The necessity of animal models in pain research. Pain 151, 12-17.
- Mormede P, Andanson S, Auperin B et al. (2007) Exploration of the hypothalamic-pituitaryadrenal function as a tool to evaluate animal welfare. Physiol Behav 92, 317-339.
- Morton DB, Griffiths PH (1985) Guidelines on the recognition of pain, distress and discomfort in experimental animals and an hypothesis for assessment. Vet Rec 116, 431-436.
- Nagamine K, Ozaki N, Shinoda M et al. (2006) Mechanical allodynia and thermal hyperalgesia induced by experimental squamous cell carcinoma of the lower gingiva in rats. J Pain 7, 659-670.
- Nakae A, Nakai K, Yano K et al. (2011) The animal model of spinal cord injury as an experimental pain model. J Biomed Biotechnol 939023, 7.
- Ness TJ, Gebhart GF (1990) Visceral pain: a review of experimental studies. Pain 41, 167-234.
- Ness TJ, Lewis-Sides A, Castroman P (2001) Characterization of pressor and visceromotor reflex responses to bladder distention in rats: sources of variability and effect of analgesics. J Urol 165, 968-974.
- Neugebauer V, Han JS, Adwanikar H et al. (2007) Techniques for assessing knee joint pain in arthritis. Mol Pain 3, 8.
- Nolan A, Livingston A, Morris R et al. (1987) Techniques for comparison of thermal and mechanical nociceptive stimuli in the sheep. J Pharmacol Methods 17, 39-49.
- Nolan A, Reid J (1993) Comparison of the postoperative analgesic and sedative effects of carprofen and papaveretum in the dog. Vet Rec 133, 240-242.
- Ono K, Harano N, Inenaga K et al. (2012) A rat pain model of facial cancer. Methods Mol Biol 851, 149-157.
- Pacharinsak C, Beitz A (2008) Animal models of cancer pain. Comp Med 58, 220-233.
- Pezalla PD (1983) Morphine-induced analgesia and explosive motor behavior in an amphibian. Brain Res 273, 297-305.
- Plaghki L, Bragard D, Le Bars D et al. (1998) Facilitation of a nociceptive flexion reflex in man by nonnoxious radiant heat produced by a laser. J Neurophysiol 79, 2557-2567.
- Polomano RC, Mannes AJ, Clark US et al. (2001) A painful peripheral neuropathy in the rat produced by the chemotherapeutic drug, paclitaxel. Pain 94, 293-304.

- Prunier A, Mounier AM, Hay M (2005) Effects of castration, tooth resection, or tail docking on plasma metabolites and stress hormones in young pigs. J Anim Sci 83, 216-222.
- Raekallio M, Taylor PM, Bloomfield M (1997) A comparison of methods for evaluation of pain and distress after orthopaedic surgery in horses. Veterinary Anaesthesia and Analgesia 24, 17-20.
- Raeside L (2011) Physiological measures of assessing infant pain: a literature review. Br J Nurs 20, 1370-1376.
- Reid J, Nolan AM (1991) A comparison of the postoperative analgesic and sedative effects of flimixin and pap aver etum in the dog. J Small Anim Pract 32, 603-608.
- Rosellini RA, Abrahamsen GC, Stock HS et al. (1994) Modulation of hypoalgesia by morphine and number of shock trials: covariation of a measure of context fear and hypoalgesia. Physiol Behav 56, 183-188.
- Rudo FG, Wynn RL, Ossipov M et al. (1989) Antinociceptive activity of pentamorphone, a 14beta-aminomorphinone derivative, compared to fentanyl and morphine. Anesth Analg 69, 450-456
- Sandercock DA, Gibson IF, Brash HM et al. (2009) Development of a mechanical stimulator and force measurement system for the assessment of nociceptive thresholds in pigs. J Neurosci Methods 182, 64-70.
- Seltzer Z, Dubner R, Shir Y (1990) A novel behavioral model of neuropathic pain disorders produced in rats by partial sciatic nerve injury. Pain 43, 205-218.
- Sewell RD, Spencer PS (1976) Antinociceptive activity of narcotic agonist and partial agonist analgesics and other agents in the tail-immersion test in mice and rats. Neuropharmacology 15, 683-688.
- Siegmund E, Cadmus R, Lu G (1957) A method for evaluating both non-narcotic and narcotic analgesics. Proc Soc Exp Biol Med 95, 729-731.
- Singh PP, Junnarkar AY, Rao CS et al. (1983) Acetic acid and phenylquinone writhing test: a critical study in mice. Methods Find Exp Clin Pharmacol 5, 601-606.
- Skingle M, Hayes AG, Tyers MB (1982) Antinociceptive activity of clonidine in the mouse, rat and dog. Life Sciences 31, 1123-1132
- Skingle M, Tyers MB (1979) Evaluation of antinociceptive activity using electrical stimulation of the tooth pulp in the conscious dog. Journal of Pharmacological Methods 2, 71-80.
- Skingle M, Tyers MB (1980) Further studies on opiate receptors that mediate antinoception tooth pulp stimulation in the dog.pdf. Br J Pharmac 70, 323-327
- Slingsby LS, Taylor PM, Murrell JC (2011) A study to evaluate buprenorphine at 40 µg kg-1 compared to 20 µg kg-1 as a post-operative analgesic in the dog. Veterinary Anaesthesia and Analgesia 38, 584-593.

- Statile L, Puig MM, Warner W et al. (1988) Droperidol enhances fentanyl and sufentanil, but not morphine, analgesia. Gen Pharmacol 19, 451-454.
- Steagall PV, Taylor PM, Brondani JT et al. (2007) Effects of buprenorphine, carprofen and saline on thermal and mechanical nociceptive thresholds in cats. Vet Anaesth Analg 34, 344-350.
- Stevens CW, MacIver DN, Newman LC (2001) Testing and comparison of non-opioid analgesics in amphibians. Contemp Top Lab Anim Sci 40, 23-27.
- Taylor PM, Houlton JEF (1984) Post-operative analgesia in the dog: a comparison of morphine, buprenorphine and pentazocine. J Small Anim Pract 25, 437-451.
- Vadakkan KI, Jia YH, Zhuo M (2005) A behavioral model of neuropathic pain induced by ligation of the common peroneal nerve in mice. J Pain 6, 747-756.
- Vainio O, VÄHa-VÄHe T, Palmu L (1989) Sedative and analgesic effects of medetomidine in dogs. Journal of Veterinary Pharmacology and Therapeutics 12, 225-231.
- van Oostrom H, Doornenbal A, Schot A et al. (2011) Neurophysiological assessment of the sedative and analgesic effects of a constant rate infusion of dexmedetomidine in the dog. The Veterinary Journal 190, 338-344.
- Vaupel DB (1989) Interactions between pentazocine and tripelennamine on autonomic and nociceptive measures in the dog. Pharmacol Biochem Behav 33, 245-251.
- Vierck CJ, Yezierski RP, Light AR (2008) Long-lasting hyperalgesia and sympathetic dysregulation after formalin injection into the rat hind paw. Neuroscience 153, 501-506.
- Wagner AE, Walton JA, Hellyer PW et al. (2002) Use of low doses of ketamine administered by constant rate infusion as an adjunct for postoperative analgesia in dogs. J Am Vet Med Assoc 221, 72-75.
- Wall PD, Devor M, Inbal R et al. (1979) Autotomy following peripheral nerve lesions: experimental anaesthesia dolorosa. Pain 7, 103-111.
- Wegner K, Horais KA, Tozier NA et al. (2008) Development of a canine nociceptive thermal escape model. Journal of Neuroscience Methods 168, 88-97.
- Whay HR, Waterman AE, Webster AJ (1997) Associations between locomotion, claw lesions and nociceptive threshold in dairy heifers during the peri-partum period. Vet J 154, 155-161.
- Willenbring S, Beauprie IG, DeLeo JA (1995) Sciatic cryoneurolysis in rats: a model of sympathetically independent pain. Part 1: Effects of sympathectomy. Anesth Analg 81, 544-548.
- Winter CA, Flataker L (1953) The relation between skin temperature and the effect of morphine upon the response to thermal stimuli in the albino rat and the dog. J Pharmacol Exp Ther 109, 183-188.

- Woolf CJ (1984) Long term alterations in the excitability of the flexion reflex produced by peripheral tissue injury in the chronic decerebrate rat. Pain 18, 325-343.
- Woolfe G, MacDonald AD (1944) The evaluation of the analgesic action of pethidine hydrochoride (Demerol). J Pharmacol Exp Ther 80, 300-307.
- Xu B, Descalzi G, Ye HR et al. (2012) Translational investigation and treatment of neuropathic pain. Mol Pain 8, 15.
- Ylisela E, Vainio O (1989) Effects of medetomidine on the experimental auricular pain in dogs. Acta Vet Scand Suppl 85, 187-191.

# CHAPTER 3: EVALUATION OF THE ANALGESIC EFFECT OF MAROPITANT IN CATS<sup>1</sup>

### Introduction

Maropitant (Cerenia; Pfizer Animal Health, NY, USA) is a NK-1 receptor antagonist approved for the prevention and treatment of acute vomiting in dogs with demonstrated safety and efficacy preventing and treating emesis caused by motion sickness (Benchaoui et al. 2007; Conder et al. 2008), administration of cisplatin (Vail et al. 2007), hydromorphone (Hay Kraus 2012), doxorubicin (Rau et al. 2010), and emetogens such as apomorphine and syrup of ipecac (Sedlacek et al. 2008), among others (de la Puente-Redondo et al. 2007; Ramsey et al. 2008). In cats, maropitant is well tolerated with antiemetic properties against xylazine and motion sickness induced emesis (Hickman et al. 2008).

Studies in multiple species have shown that NK-1 receptor antagonists suppress the response to noxious stimuli. For example a NK-1 receptor antagonist (CP-96,345) elevated pain thresholds significantly after intraperitoneal injection of acetic acid in mice (Nagahisa et al. 1992). Nociceptive behaviors induced by intraplantar formalin injection in rats (Yamamoto & Yaksh 1991; Smith et al. 1994; Rupniak et al. 1995), gerbils (Smith et al. 1994; Rupniak et al. 1996) and mice (Sakurada et al. 1993) were attenuated after administration of NK-1 antagonists. In genetic modes, NK-1 receptor knockout mice were less responsive to the intraplantar formalin injection (King et al. 2000), and demonstrated reductions in nociceptive responses to intracolonic administration of capsaicin (Laird et al. 2000). These results suggest a role for NK-1 receptors in regulating pain transmission.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1</sup>Originally Published in Veterinary Anesthesia and Analgesia (Niyom et al. 2013)

Recently authors reported a decrease in the sevoflurane minimum alveolar concentration (MAC) requirement during ovary and ovarian ligament stimulation after intravenous administration of maropitant in dogs (Boscan et al. 2011b), which may indicate the antinociceptive properties of this NK-1 antagonist.

A study in cats demonstrated the release of substance P, a ligand of NK-1 receptors, in spinal cord after noxious stimulation using thermal stimulation and capsaicin (Go & Yaksh 1987). In anesthetized cats, intrathecal administration of a NK-1 receptor antagonist reduced the cardiovascular responses evoked by noxious chemical (bradykinin) stimulation of the gallbladder (Pan et al. 1995). Due to these prior favorable results and in an effort to further evaluate the antinociceptive effects of maropitant we decided to use a model of ovarian stimulation previously described in dogs (Boscan et al. 2011a) to determine the MAC sparing effect of the drug in cats during visceral noxious stimulus.

#### Materials and methods

#### Animals

Twenty one client-owned, domestic, healthy female cats, greater than 12 weeks of age, weighing  $2.7 \pm 0.8$  kg (mean  $\pm$  SD) were enrolled in the study. Food was withheld overnight, but water was available at all times. The study was approved by the Animal Care and Use Committee from Colorado State University.

#### Experimental protocol

The study was divided into three phases. In phase 1, the ovarian stimulation model previously used in dogs (Boscan et al. 2011a) was modified for cats to determine the optimal

force for ovarian stimulation that generates a response without damaging tissue. This was done by constructing a stimulus – response curve while determining the sevoflurane MAC. The second phase was designed to identify the MAC sparing effects during ovarian stimulation of two doses of maropitant. During phase 1 and 2 of the study, we identified 5 pregnant cats by observing a gravid uterus during laparoscopy. Due to the potential effects of pregnancy on MAC requirements and because the effects of pregnancy in cats on MAC requirements has not yet been published, the 5 pregnant cats were removed from phase 1 and 2 and a third phase was added to the study to evaluate the differences in MAC between pregnant and non-pregnant cats.

#### Phase 1

Anesthesia was induced in 5 cats with sevoflurane in oxygen using an induction chamber and a face mask until cats could be intubated. Once orotracheally intubated (3.5 - 4.5 mm)internal diameter endotracheal tube), anesthesia was maintained with sevoflurane in oxygen using a circle breathing system. The cats were mechanically ventilated to maintain an end-tidal carbon dioxide (ETCO<sub>2</sub>) between 25 and 35 mmHg. Lactated Ringers solution (Baxter, IL, USA) was administered at 5 ml/kg/h during anesthesia. An ECG was used to assess heart rate and rhythm. A Doppler was placed over a digital artery and used with an appropriately sized cuff on the proximal limb to assess blood pressure. An esophageal thermometer (Power Lab amplifiers from ADInstruments, CO, USA) was placed to assess core temperature and a calibrated sidestream end-tidal gas analyzer (Biochem 9100; BCI International, WI, USA) was used to measure inspired and expired O<sub>2</sub>, CO<sub>2</sub> & sevoflurane and record respiratory frequency. A catheter was placed through the endotracheal tube to the level of the carina to facilitate end-tidal sampling. Core temperature was maintained between 37°C and 39°C using externally supplied heat during the study.

Laparoscopic surgery was performed to access the right ovary and ovarian ligament. Two 5 mm cannulas were placed along the midline and the abdomen was insufflated with CO<sub>2</sub> to pressures between 4 - 8 cmH<sub>2</sub>O for visualization. For ovarian stimulation a 3-0 biosyn suture was placed around and through the ovary and ovarian ligament (**Figure 3.1**). The suture loose ends were exteriorized through the abdominal wall and connected to a pre-calibrated force transducer. The force transducer has a force displacement range of 0.05 - 2 Kg/mm (0.5 - 20 Newton's) and maximum load of 10 Kg (FT03; ADInstruments, CO, USA). The technique used followed a similar protocol previously described in dogs (Boscan et al. 2011a).

It has been recommended for MAC determination that a supra-maximal noxious stimulus (increase in stimulus intensity does not alter MAC) should be used to obtain reliable and repeatable results (Quasha et al. 1980; Valverde et al. 2003) as the variation of MAC is reduced when the intensity of stimulation increases (Eger et al. 1965). The highest traction force that does not harm or damage tissues is considered optimal to determine MAC in our study.

To identify the optimal traction force for further MAC comparisons, a stimulus-response curve was created using 4 stimulation forces (1.96, 3.92, 5.88 and 7.85 Newton's) tested randomly in each cat to determine the sevoflurane MAC in duplicate within each traction force. MAC was determined by applying the desired traction force for 1 minute at a given sevoflurane concentration (if no response was observed) or until purposeful movement was observed. If purposeful movement was observed, the end-tidal sevoflurane was increased by 10% for the following test. On the contrary, if no movement occurred, the end-tidal sevoflurane was decreased by 10% for the following test. At least 15 minutes were allowed for equilibration at

the new sevoflurane concentration between tests. MAC was defined as the average of the concentrations generating a positive and negative response. MAC was depicted as mean  $\pm$  SD, corrected for calibration values. Since the current study was performed at around 1,500 meters above the sea level, the MAC which is measured as a percentage of a volatile anesthetic at 1 atmosphere was adjusted further and is reported in the standard atmosphere at sea level (760 mmHg).



**Figure 3.1** A 3-0 biosyn suture was placed through and around the right ovary and ovarian ligament for the ovarian noxious stimulation.

Phase 2

Ten cats were anesthetized and monitored as described above. Laparoscopic surgery to access the right ovary and ovarian ligament was performed as described for phase 1. MAC determinations were performed in triplicate for each cat to evaluate the anesthetic sparing effect

of two maropitant doses. First, a baseline MAC determination was performed between 1 - 2 hours after anesthesia induction. A force of 4.9 Newtons was selected as the optimal force from phase 1 and was used to stimulate the ovary and ovarian ligament during phase 2. Following baseline MAC determination, a maropitant dose of 1 mg/kg was administered intravenously over 5 minutes, and then MAC was redetermined at 10 minutes after the administration. This was repeated following a maropitant dose of 5 mg/kg which again was administered intravenously over 5 minutes. Cardiorespiratory variables were recorded prior to, during and after drug administration.

### Phase 3

Five pregnant cats were identified by observing a gravid uterus during laparoscopic surgery in phase 1 and 2. Owners of the cats were informed and decided to continue the surgery. The protocol of phase 1 was performed in these pregnant cats to construct the stimulus-response curve using 4 stimulation forces (1.96, 3.92, 5.88 and 7.85 Newton's). Data from six non-pregnant cats (including 5 cats in phase 1) was used for comparison.

At the end of the study (phase 1, 2 and 3), all cats were spayed laparoscopically. To prevent infection cefazolin 20 mg/kg was administered intravenously prior to recovery. Ketoprofen 1 mg/kg and buprenorphine 0.02 mg/kg were administered subcutaneously 15-30 minutes before recovery for postoperative pain management. All cats recovered and were returned to their owners without complications.

#### Statistical methods

#### Phase 1

The stimulus – response curve was constructed to determine the optimal stimulation force to study MAC by use of SAS statistical software, version 9.2. (SAS institute, Inc., NC, USA). Various non-linear growth curve models were considered to describe the dose response relationship between traction force and sevoflurane requirements. Akaike's information criterion (AIC) was used to compare the model fit between the growth curve models, and to identify a model with the best fit. Maximum likelihood estimates of the model parameters were obtained using the Quasi-Newton Raphson algorithm. The parametric bootstrap technique was used to calculate the standard error of the estimated traction force required for the curve to reach plateau, and to construct the corresponding 95% confidence intervals (Davison & Hinkley 1997). Specifically, the observed means and standard deviations of the anesthetic requirements (%) for the traction forces 1.96, 3.92, 5.88 and 7.85 Newton's were used to generate Monte Carlo samples of size m=1,000 which were drawn from a multivariate normal distribution. The standard deviations of the estimated plateau levels from the fitted growth curve models across the 1,000 simulated data were then used to estimate the standard errors of the estimated traction force required for the curve to reach plateau.

#### Phase 2

Data were summarized as mean  $\pm$  SD by use of GraphPad Prism statistical software, version 4.03 (GraphPad Software Inc, CA, USA). A repeated measures ANOVA followed by post hoc bonferroni test were used for data comparison. The repeated-measures factor was time and the between-subject factor was treatment. Pairwise comparisons between treatments at each

time point were examined using t-tests. Residuals from ANOVA were approximately normal and independent. Values of P < 0.05 were considered statistical significant.

### Phase 3

The stimulus – response curve of 5 pregnant and 6 non-pregnant cats were constructed and the statistical models explained in the phase 1 were used for the analysis. A linear mixed effects model with repeated measurements was used for comparison between two groups. P value < 0.05 was considered significant. A power calculation was used to estimate the number of cats required in the study to show a statistically significant difference.

### Results

### Phase 1

The stimulation – response curve is depicted in **Figure 3.2**. The MAC obtained from using four different traction forces (1.96, 3.92, 5.88 and 7.85 Newton's) ranged between 2.69 and 4.17 % with a hyperbolic presentation.

The 3-parameter logistic growth curve model was a model with the best fit; therefore, it was used to describe the dose response relationship between sevoflurane requirements and traction forces.

The estimated traction force to reach the plateau level of the curve with a 95% confidence interval was  $4.3 \pm 3$  Newton's (mean  $\pm$  SE) which was obtained from the 3-parameter logistic growth curve formula as depicted below.

$$y_{ij} = \frac{c}{1 + \exp(-(a + b \cdot x_{ij}))} + s_i + \varepsilon_{ij}$$

 $y_{ij}$  is the sevoflurane requirements (%) for subject i at measurement point j,

 $s_i$  is the random subject effect,

 $\varepsilon_{ii}$  is the overall error,

 $x_{ij}$  is the traction force (N) for subject i at measurement point j,

*a* is the intercept parameter,

b is the slope parameter, and

c is the plateau of the growth curve.



**Figure 3.2**: The stimulus - response curve for the sevoflurane MAC when traction forces ranging from 1.96, 3.92, 5.88 and 7.85 Newton's were applied to the right ovary and ovarian ligament in five cats. The mean  $\pm$  SD of sevoflurane MAC was measured using the end-tidal sevoflurane concentration. The stimulation force was recorded using a force transducer. The arrow indicated a stimulation force of 4.3 Newton's, the estimated traction force to reach the plateau level of the curve.

### Phase 2

During phase 2 the anesthesia time was  $264 \pm 14$  min (mean  $\pm$  SD). The average time spent to determine MAC for baseline, 1 mg/kg and 5 mg/kg maropitant was  $51 \pm 4$ ,  $53 \pm 6$  and  $45 \pm 6$  min (mean  $\pm$  SD), respectively.

A stimulation force of 4.9 Newtons was chosen to determine MAC during phase 2. This was the force considered to be a supra-maximal force for the model. The force was slightly greater than the estimated traction force to reach the plateau level of the curve with a 95% confidence interval in phase 1 (4.3 Newtons). Stronger traction forces should not influence the MAC value results and the stimulation force is not likely to cause tissue damage, desensitization or hyperalgesia.

As depicted in **Figure 3.3** the sevoflurane MAC in the baseline group was  $2.96 \pm 0.3\%$  (mean  $\pm$  SD). Maropitant administration at 1 mg/kg decreased MAC to  $2.51 \pm 0.3\%$  (15%, P < 0.01). At higher dose (5 mg/ kg) maropitant did not reduce MAC further when compared to the low dose ( $2.46 \pm 0.4\%$ ; P = 0.33).

There were no differences in Doppler blood pressure, body temperature, heart rate, respiratory rate and ETCO<sub>2</sub> between groups (**Table 3.1**). However, intravenous administration of maropitant decreased the blood pressure transiently. When 1 mg/kg and 5 mg/kg were administered, the Doppler blood pressure decreased from 88 to 61 mmHg (P < 0.001), and 86 to 50 mmHg (P < 0.001) respectively for 6 minutes or less and then returned to pre-administration values. Therefore caution is advised with intravenous maropitant administration.



**Figure 3.3**: Each point represents sevoflurane MAC (%) for each cat prior to and after 1 mg/kg and 5 mg/kg of maropitant administration. Numbers mean the average MAC of each group. \*Indicates significant differences compared to the MAC obtaining prior to the treatment (P < 0.05).

**Table 3.1:** Mean  $\pm$  SD values for Doppler obtained systolic arterial blood pressure (SAP), body temperature, heart rate, respiratory rate and ETCO<sub>2</sub> in the cats prior to (baseline) and after 1 mg/kg and 5 mg/kg of maropitant administrations. Values were averaged from the MAC determination period (51  $\pm$  4 min for MAC of baseline, 53  $\pm$  6 min for MAC of 1 mg/kg maropitant and 45  $\pm$  6 min for MAC of 5 mg/kg maropitant). (Niyom et al. 2013)

	Baseline	Maropitant 1 mg/kg	Maropitant 5 mg/kg	
SAP (mmHg)	$75 \pm 4$	$80 \pm 4$	$70 \pm 3$	
Temperature (°C)	$37.5\pm0.5$	$38 \pm 0.3$	$38.2 \pm 0.2$	
Heart rate (beats/min)	$157 \pm 8$	$157 \pm 11$	$136 \pm 9$	
Respiratory rate (breaths/min)	$14 \pm 1.6$	$19 \pm 2.8$	$14 \pm 1.4$	
ETCO <sub>2</sub> (mmHg)	$28.6\pm0.76$	$28.9\pm0.97$	$31 \pm 0.9$	

# Phase 3

The pregnant group consisted of 5 cats weighing  $3.7 \pm 0.6$  kg and ranged from 6 months to 1.5 years of age. The non-pregnant group consisted of 6 cats weighing  $2.3 \pm 0.7$  kg and ranged from 3 months to 2 years.

The sevoflurane MAC in the pregnant group for 1.96, 3.92, 5.88 and 7.85 N were 2.29  $\pm$  0.09%, 2.54  $\pm$  0.2%, 2.75  $\pm$  0.3% and 2.91  $\pm$  0.25% respectively while MAC in the non-pregnant group were 2.32  $\pm$  0.4%, 2.77  $\pm$  0.4%, 2.95  $\pm$  0.3% and 3  $\pm$  0.3% respectively. The stimulus – response MAC curve was not different between two groups (*P* = 0.335) but the MAC requirements in the pregnant cats were consistently lower by 5% (**Figure 3.4**).



**Figure 3.4:** Stimulus-response curve for sevoflurane MAC using four traction forces (1.96, 3.92, 5.88 and 7.85 N) to the right ovarian ligament in five pregnant and six non-pregnant cats.
The three-parameter logistic growth curve model provided the best fit and was chosen to model the dose response relationship between traction force and anesthetic requirements. The estimated traction forces to reach the curve plateau level with 95% confidence interval were 9.2  $\pm$  8 and 3.6  $\pm$  1.5 N for pregnant and non-pregnant groups respectively. The sevoflurane concentration when each group reached a plateau in the stimulus – response curve was 2.99 and 2.73 for pregnant and non-pregnant groups respectively.

A power calculation using the collected data from the 11 cats determined that 18 cats per group would be needed in order to reach statistical difference at P < 0.05.

# Discussion

In the current study maropitant, a specific NK-1 receptor antagonist, reduced the sevoflurane requirements in cats during ovary and ovarian ligament stimulation after intravenous administration, but the effect was not dose dependent over the doses of 1 mg/kg and 5 mg/kg. These findings are similar to those in a previous study evaluating the anesthetic sparing effect of maropitant in dogs (Boscan et al. 2011b). In that study maropitant at 1 mg/kg and 5 mg/kg decreased the sevoflurane MAC in dogs by 24% and 30% respectively. The anesthetic sparing effect of maropitant tends to be greater in dogs when compared to the reduction of sevoflurane MAC observed in cats (15% and 17% respectively).

The higher maropitant dose (5 mg/kg) did not significantly decrease the sevoflurane MAC further in either cats or dogs. A reason of this dose independent sparing effect is unknown. Possible explanations include 1) the maximal maropitant effect occurs at less than or equal to 1 mg/kg. If the maximal maropitant effect was between 1 - 5 mg/kg, the sparing effect would be greater at a dose of 5 mg/kg and a difference would be observed between the two doses, 2) drug – receptor affinity relationships; maropitant may have very high affinity in dogs and cats,

resulting in receptor saturation at lower doses (< 1 mg/kg) as previous studies have shown that different NK-1 antagonists may have receptor affinity differences among different species (Beresford et al. 1991; Gitter et al. 1991; Barr & Watson 1993). Another possibility is that general anesthetics such as sevoflurane could be occupying and inhibiting NK-1 receptors on visceral pain transmission in the spinal cord (Wang et al. 2008b) and reducing population of receptors available for inhibition. Finally, it is possible that NK-1 receptors have limited ability to modulate immobility produced by the inhaled agent or limited ability as an analgesic and anesthetic sparing agent. Further studies are necessary to identify the dose – effect relationship in dogs and cats.

Mechanisms responsible for the MAC sparing effect of maropitant during visceral noxious stimulation remain unknown. Both, NK-1 receptors and substance P are expressed in the nociceptive pathway at many levels including nerve terminals, dorsal root ganglia, spinal cord, ascending projections and higher brain structures (Duggan et al. 1988; Mantyh et al. 1995; Quartara & Maggi 1998). In the current study, at the time of MAC determination maropitant was presumed to have enough time to reach all body compartments where NK-1 receptors may be located. Hence it is not possible to hypothesize the action site for maropitant.

The findings from the present study indicate a role of NK-1 receptors in visceral nociceptive processing which is also supported by preclinical information including 1) expression of substance P in 21% of somatic (cutaneous) versus greater than 80% of the visceral afferents (Perry & Lawson 1998), and 2) the presence of high concentrations of NK-1 receptors in spinal cord regions where visceral afferents terminate in laminae I and X (Brown et al. 1995; Laird et al. 2000).

These results however are confounded by previous studies, for example, intrathecal administration of NK-1 antagonists in rats showed analgesic effect (Chapman & Dickenson 1993; Ishizaki et al. 1997), while a study in dogs showed no benefit of epidural maropitant injection (Alvillar et al. 2012).

During the MAC measurements  $ETCO_2$  in cats was maintained within 25 - 35 mmHg and the body temperature was maintained between 37°C and 39°C because of their potential effects on the MAC values. A decrease in body temperature reduces the anesthetic requirement (Quasha et al. 1980) while narcotic properties has been observed in dogs with arterial carbon dioxide partial pressure (PaCO<sub>2</sub>) levels above 95 mmHg associated with arterial pH below 7.1 (Eisele et al. 1967). However a decrease of PaCO<sub>2</sub> from 42 to 14 mmHg in dogs and PaCO<sub>2</sub> of 20.8 mmHg in humans do not change MAC of halothane significantly (Eger et al. 1965; Bridges & Eger 1966).

In addition to the anesthetic sparing effect of maropitant reported, this study represents a new approach to measure MAC in cats using visceral stimulation of the ovary and ovarian ligament. The model was adapted from a previous dog study (Boscan et al. 2011b). The application of the model to cats appeared to work well inducing predictable visceral noxious stimuli. There was no evidence of visual macroscopic tissue damage to the ovary or ovarian ligament and the response was consistent and repeatable within and between animals. This model may be of veterinary clinical interest because of its similarities to the pain response observed during ovariectomy or ovariohysterectomy surgeries.

A potential caveat in the study is that the end tidal gas samples were measured via an automated sidestream collection system. The sidestream collection systems may have produced a

69

larger sevoflurane variability due to the higher respiratory rate and lower tidal volumes observed in cats.

An interesting observation was that intravenous administration of maropitant decreased blood pressure significantly for a short period of time. The Doppler obtained blood pressure decreased by 30% and 41% when low and high maropitant doses were administered respectively. The transient decrease of blood pressure was also noticed in dogs after the intravenous administration of the drug (Boscan et al. 2011b). Other NK-1 antagonists tested have shown diverging results. Five different pure NK-1 antagonists tested did not show any cardiovascular effects in rodents (Iyengar et al. 1997; Cellier et al. 1999; Wang et al. 2008a), ferrets (Watson et al. 1995) or dogs (Watson et al. 1995). On the contrary, the NK-1 antagonist (CP-96,345) decreased blood pressure in mice (Sakamoto et al. 1993). We do not know if there could be a direct cardiovascular effect from maropitant or the vehicles (metacresol and sulphobutyletherbeta-cyclodextrin) in Cerenia®. It is possible that cresol derivatives may induce transient cardiovascular disturbance as shown in a previous study in pigs. That study reported signs of tachycardia, arrhythmias, and severe hypotension during intravenous administration of a cresol derivative in anesthetized pigs (Iaizzo et al. 1999). However, the clinical implication from this finding is unknown but we advise caution if the intravenous route is used.

In the present study we evaluated the relative analgesic efficacy of maropitant using MAC determination. Although it is not considered the best method for pain assessment and tranquilizer such as acepromazine can decrease MAC in dogs, goats and ponies (Heard et al. 1986; Doherty et al. 1997; Doherty et al. 2002), many analgesic drugs used in veterinary medicine reduce MAC in animals such as cats and dogs (Yackey et al. 2004; Machado et al. 2006; Solano et al. 2006; Wilson et al. 2006; Ferreira et al. 2009; Ko et al. 2009; Seddighi et al.

2009; Credie et al. 2010; Monteiro et al. 2010) and some studies used MAC as a reference to test the analgesic potency of drugs (Gomez de Segura et al. 1998). This technique provides a reliable quantification of the observed effect and reduces the impact of animal handling stress and emotional responses on the results. The model may also be considered more ethical than other models in conscious animals and allow comparisons between different analgesic substances (Docquier et al. 2003).

Maropitant decreased the sevoflurane MAC requirements during visceral noxious stimulus in cats. Along with previously similar findings in dogs (Boscan et al. 2011b), this may indicate the visceral analgesic properties of maropitant in small animals. These are consistent with previous experiments that demonstrated the antinociceptive effect of NK-1 antagonists in rodents (Yamamoto & Yaksh 1991; Nagahisa et al. 1992; Sakurada et al. 1993; Smith et al. 1994; Rupniak et al. 1995; Rupniak et al. 1996). However NK-1 antagonists that have previously showed positive results in animal models had been failed to exhibit analgesic efficacy in human clinical studies of pain (Goldstein et al. 2001; Sindrup et al. 2006). Therefore, clinical trials are warranted to further evaluate the visceral analgesic effect of maropitant in cats.

The difference between sevoflurane MAC requirement of pregnant cats vs. non-pregnant cats during ovarian stimulation was small and probably of no clinical relevance (5%). However the MAC values during pregnancy were lower consistently at all forces in cats which may agree with a reduction of inhalant anesthetic requirements during pregnancy in humans (Gin & Chan 1994; Chan et al. 1996), rats (Strout & Nahrwold 1981) and sheep (Palahniuk et al. 1974; Okutomi et al. 2009). The statistical insignificance in the present study may be due to the small sample size and the small difference observed. According to the power calculation, the effect of

pregnancy on MAC requirement is likely to be observed if each treatment group contained at least eighteen cats.

Hormonal changes during pregnancy may be responsible for the reduction in anesthetic requirements. In cats progesterone is increased 12 - 35 fold during pregnancy (Verhage et al. 1976); similar to women and rabbits where the ratio of progesterone plasma levels between pregnant and non-pregnant subjects are 60:1 (Datta et al. 1986) and 5:1 (Flanagan et al. 1987) respectively. Furthermore, administration of progesterone reduces halothane MAC in male dogs (Tanifuji et al. 1986) and ovariectomized rabbits (Datta et al. 1989) and decreases sevoflurane MAC in male mice (Shimizu et al. 2010). Progesterone is believed to have sedative (Soderpalm et al. 2004) and antinociceptive properties (Kuba et al. 2006), which may be the underlying mechanisms for a lower MAC requirement in pregnant subjects.

The limitations of the pregnant cat portion of the study include firstly the sample size which was low and therefore insufficient to demonstrate a significant difference. Second, blood concentrations of progesterone were not measured; therefore, the correlation of progesterone and MAC requirements in cats remains to be investigated. Third, the range of age was quite different between the two groups. Two of the 3 months-old cats were recruited in the non-pregnant cat group while the others ranged from 6 months to 2 years of age. This may be important because the anesthetic requirement changes with age (Quasha et al. 1980). Finally, using an automated side-stream system for sampling the end-tidal sevoflurane may produce large variability of anesthetic concentrations as stated earlier.

In conclusion, maropitant both at 1 and 5 mg/kg decreased the sevoflurane MAC requirements during visceral noxious stimulus in cats by 15 and 17% respectively. This may indicate the potential visceral analgesic efficacy of maropitant which warrants further

72

investigation. The ovarian stimulation model of MAC measurements appeared to work well and produced repeatable responses to visceral noxious stimulus in cats. Pregnant cats may have lower sevoflurane requirements when compared to non-pregnant cats but the difference is small enough (5%) that it is considered clinically insignificant. Hence at this time we do not advocate the use of lower inhalant anesthetic percentages or concentrations for pregnant cats.

# References

- Alvillar BM, Boscan P, Mama KR et al. (2012) Effect of epidural and intravenous use of the neurokinin-1 (NK-1) receptor antagonist maropitant on the sevoflurane minimum alveolar concentration (MAC) in dogs. Vet Anaesth Analg 39, 201-205.
- Barr AJ, Watson SP (1993) Non-peptide antagonists, CP-96,345 and RP 67580, distinguish species variants in tachykinin NK1 receptors. Br J Pharmacol 108, 223-227.
- Benchaoui HA, Siedek EM, De La Puente-Redondo VA et al. (2007) Efficacy of maropitant for preventing vomiting associated with motion sickness in dogs. Vet Rec 161, 444-447.
- Beresford IJ, Birch PJ, Hagan RM et al. (1991) Investigation into species variants in tachykinin NK1 receptors by use of the non-peptide antagonist, CP-96,345. Br J Pharmacol 104, 292-293.
- Boscan P, Monnet E, Mama K et al. (2011a) A dog model to study ovary, ovarian ligament and visceral pain. Vet Anaesth Analg 38, 260-266.
- Boscan P, Monnet E, Mama K et al. (2011b) Effect of maropitant, a neurokinin 1 receptor antagonist, on anesthetic requirements during noxious visceral stimulation of the ovary in dogs. Am J Vet Res 72, 1576-1579.
- Bridges BE, Jr., Eger EI, 2nd (1966) The effect of hypocapnia on the level of halothane anesthesia in man. Anesthesiology 27, 634-637.
- Brown JL, Liu H, Maggio JE et al. (1995) Morphological characterization of substance P receptor-immunoreactive neurons in the rat spinal cord and trigeminal nucleus caudalis. J Comp Neurol 356, 327-344.
- Cellier E, Barbot L, Iyengar S et al. (1999) Characterization of central and peripheral effects of septide with the use of five tachykinin NK1 receptor antagonists in the rat. Br J Pharmacol 127, 717-728.
- Chan MT, Mainland P, Gin T (1996) Minimum alveolar concentration of halothane and enflurane are decreased in early pregnancy. Anesthesiology 85, 782-786.
- Chapman V, Dickenson AH (1993) The effect of intrathecal administration of RP67580, a potent neurokinin 1 antagonist on nociceptive transmission in the rat spinal cord. Neuroscience Letters 157, 149-152.
- Conder GA, Sedlacek HS, Boucher JF et al. (2008) Efficacy and safety of maropitant, a selective neurokinin 1 receptor antagonist, in two randomized clinical trials for prevention of vomiting due to motion sickness in dogs. J Vet Pharmacol Ther 31, 528-532.
- Credie RG, Teixeira Neto FJ, Ferreira TH et al. (2010) Effects of methadone on the minimum alveolar concentration of isoflurane in dogs. Vet Anaesth Analg 37, 240-249.
- Datta S, Hurley RJ, Naulty JS et al. (1986) Plasma and cerebrospinal fluid progesterone concentrations in pregnant and nonpregnant women. Anesth Analg 65, 950-954.

- Datta S, Migliozzi RP, Flanagan HL et al. (1989) Chronically administered progesterone decreases halothane requirements in rabbits. Anesth Analg 68, 46-50.
- Davison AC, Hinkley DV (1997) Bootstrap methods and their application. (1st edn), Cambridge University Press, Cambridge, UK.
- de la Puente-Redondo VA, Siedek EM, Benchaoui HA et al. (2007) The anti-emetic efficacy of maropitant (Cerenia) in the treatment of ongoing emesis caused by a wide range of underlying clinical aetiologies in canine patients in Europe. J Small Anim Pract 48, 93-98.
- Docquier MA, Lavand'homme P, Ledermann C et al. (2003) Can determining the minimum alveolar anesthetic concentration of volatile anesthetic be used as an objective tool to assess antinociception in animals? Anesth Analg 97, 1033-1039.
- Doherty TJ, Geiser DR, Rohrbach BW (1997) Effect of acepromazine and butorphanol on halothane minimum alveolar concentration in ponies. Equine Vet J 29, 374-376.
- Doherty TJ, Rohrbach BW, Geiser DR (2002) Effect of acepromazine and butorphanol on isoflurane minimum alveolar concentration in goats. J Vet Pharmacol Ther 25, 65-67.
- Duggan AW, Hendry IA, Morton CR et al. (1988) Cutaneous stimuli releasing immunoreactive substance P in the dorsal horn of the cat. Brain Res 451, 261-273.
- Eger EI, 2nd, Saidman LJ, Brandstater B (1965) Minimum alveolar anesthetic concentration: a standard of anesthetic potency. Anesthesiology 26, 756-763.
- Eisele JH, Eger EI, 2nd, Muallem M (1967) Narcotic properties of carbon dioxide in the dog. Anesthesiology 28, 856-865.
- Ferreira TH, Aguiar AJ, Valverde A et al. (2009) Effect of remifentanil hydrochloride administered via constant rate infusion on the minimum alveolar concentration of isoflurane in cats. Am J Vet Res 70, 581-588.
- Flanagan HL, Datta S, Lambert DH et al. (1987) Effect of pregnancy on bupivacaine-induced conduction blockade in the isolated rabbit vagus nerve. Anesth Analg 66, 123-126.
- Gin T, Chan MT (1994) Decreased minimum alveolar concentration of isoflurane in pregnant humans. Anesthesiology 81, 829-832.
- Gitter BD, Waters DC, Bruns RF et al. (1991) Species differences in affinities of non-peptide antagonists for substance P receptors. Eur J Pharmacol 197, 237-238.
- Go VL, Yaksh TL (1987) Release of substance P from the cat spinal cord. J Physiol 391, 141-167.
- Goldstein DJ, Wang O, Gitter BD et al. (2001) Dose-response study of the analgesic effect of lanepitant in patients with painful diabetic neuropathy. Clin Neuropharmacol 24, 16-22.

- Gomez de Segura IA, Criado AB, Santos M et al. (1998) Aspirin synergistically potentiates isoflurane minimum alveolar concentration reduction produced by morphine in the rat. Anesthesiology 89, 1489-1494.
- Hay Kraus BL (2012) Efficacy of maropitant in preventing vomiting in dogs premedicated with hydromorphone. Vet Anaesth Analg 20, 1467-2995.
- Heard DJ, Webb AI, Daniels RT (1986) Effect of acepromazine on the anesthetic requirement of halothane in the dog. Am J Vet Res 47, 2113-2115.
- Hickman MA, Cox SR, Mahabir S et al. (2008) Safety, pharmacokinetics and use of the novel NK-1 receptor antagonist maropitant (Cerenia) for the prevention of emesis and motion sickness in cats. J Vet Pharmacol Ther 31, 220-229.
- Iaizzo PA, Johnson BA, Nagao K et al. (1999) 4-chloro-m-cresol triggers malignant hyperthermia in susceptible swine at doses greatly exceeding those found in drug preparations. Anesthesiology 90, 1723-1732.
- Ishizaki K, Karasawa S, Takahashi K et al. (1997) Intrathecal neurokinin-1 receptor antagonist reduces isoflurane MAC in rats. Can J Anaesth 44, 543-549.
- Iyengar S, Hipskind PA, Gehlert DR et al. (1997) LY303870, a centrally active neurokinin-1 antagonist with a long duration of action. J Pharmacol Exp Ther 280, 774-785.
- King TE, Heath MJ, Debs P et al. (2000) The development of the nociceptive responses in neurokinin-1 receptor knockout mice. Neuroreport 11, 587-591.
- Ko JC, Weil AB, Inoue T (2009) Effects of carprofen and morphine on the minimum alveolar concentration of isoflurane in dogs. J Am Anim Hosp Assoc 45, 19-23.
- Kuba T, Wu HB, Nazarian A et al. (2006) Estradiol and progesterone differentially regulate formalin-induced nociception in ovariectomized female rats. Horm Behav 49, 441-449.
- Laird JM, Olivar T, Roza C et al. (2000) Deficits in visceral pain and hyperalgesia of mice with a disruption of the tachykinin NK1 receptor gene. Neuroscience 98, 345-352.
- Machado CE, Dyson DH, Grant Maxie M (2006) Effects of oxymorphone and hydromorphone on the minimum alveolar concentration of isoflurane in dogs. Vet Anaesth Analg 33, 70-77.
- Mantyh PW, DeMaster E, Malhotra A et al. (1995) Receptor endocytosis and dendrite reshaping in spinal neurons after somatosensory stimulation. Science 268, 1629-1632.
- Monteiro ER, Teixeira-Neto FJ, Campagnol D et al. (2010) Effects of remifentanil on the minimum alveolar concentration of isoflurane in dogs. Am J Vet Res 71, 150-156.
- Nagahisa A, Kanai Y, Suga O et al. (1992) Antiinflammatory and analgesic activity of a nonpeptide substance P receptor antagonist. Eur J Pharmacol 217, 191-195.

- Niyom S, Boscan P, Twedt DC et al. (2013) Effect of maropitant, a neurokinin-1 receptor antagonist, on the minimum alveolar concentration of sevoflurane during stimulation of the ovarian ligament in cats. Vet Anaesth Analg 13, 12017.
- Okutomi T, Whittington RA, Stein DJ et al. (2009) Comparison of the effects of sevoflurane and isoflurane anesthesia on the maternal-fetal unit in sheep. J Anesth 23, 392-398.
- Palahniuk RJ, Shnider SM, Eger EI, 2nd (1974) Pregnancy decreases the requirement for inhaled anesthetic agents. Anesthesiology 41, 82-83.
- Pan HL, Bonham AC, Longhurst JC (1995) Role of spinal NK1 receptors in cardiovascular responses to chemical stimulation of the gallbladder. Am J Physiol 268, H526-534.
- Perry MJ, Lawson SN (1998) Differences in expression of oligosaccharides, neuropeptides, carbonic anhydrase and neurofilament in rat primary afferent neurons retrogradely labelled via skin, muscle or visceral nerves. Neuroscience 85, 293-310.
- Quartara L, Maggi CA (1998) The tachykinin NK1 receptor. Part II: Distribution and pathophysiological roles. Neuropeptides 32, 1-49.
- Quasha AL, Eger EI, 2nd, Tinker JH (1980) Determination and applications of MAC. Anesthesiology 53, 315-334.
- Ramsey DS, Kincaid K, Watkins JA et al. (2008) Safety and efficacy of injectable and oral maropitant, a selective neurokinin 1 receptor antagonist, in a randomized clinical trial for treatment of vomiting in dogs. J Vet Pharmacol Ther 31, 538-543.
- Rau SE, Barber LG, Burgess KE (2010) Efficacy of maropitant in the prevention of delayed vomiting associated with administration of doxorubicin to dogs. J Vet Intern Med 24, 1452-1457.
- Rupniak NM, Webb JK, Williams AR et al. (1995) Antinociceptive activity of the tachykinin NK1 receptor antagonist, CP-99,994, in conscious gerbils. Br J Pharmacol 116, 1937-1943.
- Rupniak NMJ, Carlson E, Boyce S et al. (1996) Enantioselective inhibition of the formalin paw late phase by the NK1 receptor antagonist L-733,060 in gerbils. Pain 67, 189-195.
- Sakamoto T, Barnes PJ, Chung KF (1993) Effect of CP-96,345, a non-peptide NK1 receptor antagonist, against substance P-, bradykinin- and allergen-induced airway microvascular leakage and bronchoconstriction in the guinea pig. Eur J Pharmacol 231, 31-38.
- Sakurada T, Katsumata K, Yogo H et al. (1993) Antinociception induced by CP 96,345, a nonpeptide NK-1 receptor antagonist, in the mouse formalin and capsaicin tests. Neurosci Lett 151, 142-145.
- Seddighi MR, Egger CM, Rohrbach BW et al. (2009) Effects of tramadol on the minimum alveolar concentration of sevoflurane in dogs. Veterinary Anaesthesia and Analgesia 36, 334-340.

- Sedlacek HS, Ramsey DS, Boucher JF et al. (2008) Comparative efficacy of maropitant and selected drugs in preventing emesis induced by centrally or peripherally acting emetogens in dogs. J Vet Pharmacol Ther 31, 533-537.
- Shimizu T, Inomata S, Tanaka M (2010) Progesterone decreases sevoflurane requirement in male mice: a dose-response study. Br J Anaesth 104, 603-605.
- Sindrup SH, Graf A, Sfikas N (2006) The NK1-receptor antagonist TKA731 in painful diabetic neuropathy: a randomised, controlled trial. Eur J Pain 10, 567-571.
- Smith G, Harrison S, Bowers J et al. (1994) Non-specific effects of the tachykinin NK1 receptor antagonist, CP-99,994, in antinociceptive tests in rat, mouse and gerbil. Eur J Pharmacol 271, 481-487.
- Soderpalm AH, Lindsey S, Purdy RH et al. (2004) Administration of progesterone produces mild sedative-like effects in men and women. Psychoneuroendocrinology 29, 339-354.
- Solano AM, Pypendop BH, Boscan PL et al. (2006) Effect of intravenous administration of ketamine on the minimum alveolar concentration of isoflurane in anesthetized dogs. Am J Vet Res 67, 21-25.
- Strout CD, Nahrwold ML (1981) Halothane requirement during pregnancy and lactation in rats. Anesthesiology 55, 322-323.
- Tanifuji Y, Yasuda N, Kobayashi K et al. (1986) Effect of progesterone and estrogen on halothane MAC in dogs. Anesthesiology 65, A351.
- Vail DM, Rodabaugh HS, Conder GA et al. (2007) Efficacy of injectable maropitant (Cerenia) in a randomized clinical trial for prevention and treatment of cisplatin-induced emesis in dogs presented as veterinary patients. Vet Comp Oncol 5, 38-46.
- Valverde A, Morey TE, Hernández J et al. (2003) Validation of several types of noxious stimuli for use in determining the minimum alveolar concentration for inhalation anesthetics in dogs and rabbits. American Journal of Veterinary Research 64, 957-962.
- Verhage HG, Beamer NB, Brenner RM (1976) Plasma levels of estradiol and progesterone in the cat during polyestrus, pregnancy and pseudopregnancy. Biol Reprod 14, 579-585.
- Wang Y, Novotny M, Quaiserova-Mocko V et al. (2008a) TRPV1-mediated protection against endotoxin-induced hypotension and mortality in rats. Am J Physiol Regul Integr Comp Physiol 294, 12.
- Wang Y, Wu J, Lin Q et al. (2008b) Effects of general anesthetics on visceral pain transmission in the spinal cord. Mol Pain 4, 50.
- Watson JW, Gonsalves SF, Fossa AA et al. (1995) The anti-emetic effects of CP-99,994 in the ferret and the dog: role of the NK1 receptor. Br J Pharmacol 115, 84-94.

- Wilson D, Pettifer GR, Hosgood G (2006) Effect of transdermally administered fentanyl on minimum alveolar concentration of isoflurane in normothermic and hypothermic dogs. J Am Vet Med Assoc 228, 1042-1046.
- Yackey M, Ilkiw JE, Pascoe PJ et al. (2004) Effect of transdermally administered fentanyl on the minimum alveolar concentration of isoflurane in cats. Vet Anaesth Analg 31, 183-189.
- Yamamoto T, Yaksh TL (1991) Stereospecific effects of a nonpeptidic NK1 selective antagonist, CP-96,345: antinociception in the absence of motor dysfunction. Life Sci 49, 1955-1963.

# CHAPTER 4: EVALUATION OF THE ANALGESIC EFFECT OF ORAL TRANSMUCOSAL BUPRENORPHINE IN DOGS USING THERMAL AND MECHANICAL NOCICEPTIVE THRESHOLD TESTING DEVICES<sup>2</sup>

# Introduction

Buprenorphine, a partial agonist at the  $\mu$  opioid receptors, is a commonly used analgesic drug in small animal practice. The orotransmucosal (OTM) administration of the drug can be used for pain management in dogs (Abbo et al. 2008; Ko et al. 2011) and cats (Robertson et al. 2003; Catbagan et al. 2011). The OTM route is easy and convenient and a pharmacokinetic and pharmacodynamic study in cats showed that a single dose of 0.02 mg/kg of buprenorphine administered via the OTM route is as effective as the same dose administered intravenously (Robertson et al. 2005a). The analgesic efficacy of buprenorphine in dogs was measurable following OTM administration (Mama et al. 2008) using a mechanical nociceptive threshold testing device (Self-built C-clamp; Colorado State University, CO, USA).

In the current study we used the mechanical nociceptive threshold testing device that we had used previously and two additional recently developed nociceptive threshold testing systems to assess the antinociceptive effect of the orotransmucosal buprenorphine in dogs. These new devices (Topcat metrology, Ely, Cambridgeshire, England) were originally constructed for use in cats (Dixon et al. 2002; Slingsby et al. 2009; Dixon et al. 2010) and were subsequently modified for use in horses (Robertson et al. 2005b; Love et al. 2012) and dogs. One system provides a measurement of mechanical nociceptive threshold while another determines thermal nociceptive threshold. The repeatability in measurements of these two devices was also investigated in the

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>2</sup> A portion of this study was published in The American Journal of Veterinary Research (Niyom et al. 2012)

present study. A strong advantage of these testing devices is that both require no or minimal animal restraint during the measurements. This minimizes stress and anxiety induced by the restraint which may further interfere with pain tolerance (Kornetsky 1954; Calcagnetti & Holtzman 1992; Rosellini et al. 1994).

# **Materials and Methods**

# Animals

Three male and three female 7- to 8- month-old healthy Walker hounds weighing between 16 and 23 kg were used. Dogs were housed individually; fresh water and commercial dry dog food were provided ad libitum. The dogs had daily interaction with study personnel for socialization. Dogs were also familiarized with the nociceptive devices and the study environment for 1 week prior to the start of the study. The experimental protocol was approved by the Institutional Animal Care and Use Committee at Colorado State University.

## Experimental protocol

The study was divided in two phases. Phase 1 was designed to evaluate the repeatability in measurements of the thermal and mechanical nociceptive threshold testing devices (Topcat metrology Ltd.) in unmedicated dogs. Phase 2 was used to evaluate the analgesic efficacy of the orotransmucosal buprenorphine in dogs using a mechanical nociceptive threshold testing device (Self-built C-clamp) and the two devices tested in phase 1.

# Phase 1

To investigate the repeatability of thermal threshold measurements, the laterodorsal aspect of each dog's thorax was clipped of hair and the thermal threshold device applied (**Figure 4.1**). This device was used to measure skin temperature before stimulation (baseline) and then remotely generate heat at a fixed rising temperature. The temperature at which the dog first responded (e.g., turned their head toward the stimulus, attempted to bite the device, tried to avoid the device) was considered the threshold. The difference between baseline skin temperature and the threshold was recorded for each measurement.



**Figure 4.1**: Thermal nociceptive threshold testing device (Topcat Metrology Ltd.) was applied on the latero-dorsal aspect of a dog's thorax. The thorax was clipped of hair allowing better contact between the thermal probe and skin of the dog.

The mechanical nociceptive threshold device (**Figure 4.2**) was applied to the proximal aspect of the forelimb, specifically the dorsolateral aspect of the radius of each dog. The device consisted of a blunt ended probe attached to a force sensor that could be remotely activated with increasing force at a fixed rate. The threshold was recorded as the force at which the dog first responded (proximal mechanical threshold).

A.



C.

В.





**Figure 4.2**: Mechanical nociceptive threshold testing device (Topcat Metrology Ltd.). The device (A) was applied to the proximal aspect of the shaved forelimb, specifically in the dorsolateral aspect of the radius of the dog. A sham device placed on the opposite limb (B); The arrow indicates the blunt ended probe of the device (C).

The dogs were brought into the study room two at a time, for mechanical and thermal threshold measurements. They were allowed to roam freely around the room during the thermal threshold assessment. However, during the measurement of mechanical threshold, some dogs needed to be slightly restrained in order to stay next to the pressure transducer.

In order to minimize tissue damage in the absence of a response to noxious stimulation, cutoffs of 60°C, and 20 Newton's were set for the thermal and proximal mechanical nociceptive devices, respectively. The thermal and proximal mechanical thresholds were assessed three times, at 7 am, 1 pm, and at 9 pm for three consecutive days. At each time point the threshold measurements were repeated at the manufacturer's recommended intervals to obtain the average of 2 - 3 readings within 10% of each other and the average of these values was used in subsequent analyses. All measurements were performed by the same investigator.

## Phase 2

Following baseline measurements each dog was administered buprenorphine 0.03 mg/kg (Hospira, IL, USA) orotransmucosally. Rectal temperature, pulse rate, and respiratory rate were recorded prior to drug administration and at 1, 6, and 24 hours post drug administration. Pulse rate was measured by femoral pulse palpation and respiratory rate by observation of thoracic excursions, both over a 30-second interval.

#### Assessment of analgesic efficacy

Thermal and proximal mechanical nociceptive threshold testing devices were calibrated on the morning of each trial and the calibrations checked twice daily. For the device used on the distal aspect of the forelimb (Self-built C-clamp), known weights were used for calibration once before the trial due to prior experience and familiarity.

The self-built C-clamp (**Figure 4.3**) was used to apply force manually in a dorsopalmar manner just distal to the large foot pad over the metacarpal bones. The clamp was a manually applied C-clamp equipped with a calibrated 1-cm<sup>2</sup> force transducer connected to an electronic recorder capable of recording the peak force or pressure at which the dog first responded (distal nociceptive threshold). Values were subsequently converted from lb/cm<sup>2</sup> to Newton's. For the thermal and proximal mechanical threshold measurements, the protocols from phase 1 were repeated.



**Figure 4.3**: Mechanical nociceptive threshold device (Self-built C-clamp) was used to apply force manually in a dorsopalmar manner just distal to the large foot pad over the metacarpal bones to determine the distal mechanical nociceptive threshold.

At each measurement point, nociceptive thresholds were determined 2 to 3 times for each testing modality. Attempts were made to have 2 to 3 measurement values within 10% of each other and the mean of these values was used in subsequent analyses.

To minimize tissue damage in the absence of a response to noxious stimulation, cutoffs of 60°C, 20 Newton's, and 20 lb/cm<sup>2</sup> were set for devices used to determine the thermal, proximal mechanical, and distal mechanical nociceptive thresholds, respectively. All threshold measurements were obtained prior to (baseline), and at 15 minutes and 1, 2, 4, 6, 12, 18, and 24 hours after drug administration. Behavioral and physiologic data were obtained before threshold measurements were performed.

# Statistical analysis

Data were summarized as mean  $\pm$  SD and analyzed by use of statistical software (SAS/STAT software, version 9.2; SAS Institute Inc., NC, USA). A mixed model ANOVA was used for analysis data obtained from phase 1. Pairwise comparisons between the different time points were examined by use of *t* tests. In phase 2, a repeated measures ANOVA was used to compare between baseline data and those at the other time points for a given parameter. *t* tests were used for pairwise comparisons. Residuals from ANOVA were evaluated and confirmed to be approximately normally distributed and independent. Values of *P* < 0.05 were considered significant for all analyses.

# Results

# Phase 1

As shown in **Table 4.1**, the thermal nociceptive threshold was not significantly different between the three different time points during each day or between days.

The proximal mechanical threshold did not differ between the three different time points during the day. However the mechanical threshold averaged over all three time points on day 3 was significantly higher than that on day 1 (mean  $\pm$  SD of 8.1  $\pm$  2.3 vs. 7  $\pm$  1.3 N, respectively; *P* = 0.014).

**Table 4.1**: Mean (SD) values for differences between initial skin and threshold temperature (°C) and proximal mechanical nociceptive thresholds (Newton's) in 6 Walker hounds at the three different time points (7 am, 1 pm and 9 pm) during each day for three consecutive days. Different letters denote significant (P < 0.05) differences between time points each day.

Nociceptive	Day 1			Day 2			Day 3		
thresholds	7:00 A	1:00 P	9:00 P	7:00 A	1:00 P	9:00 P	7:00 A	1:00 P	9:00 P
Difference									
between skin and	11.2	10.7	11.3	11.1	10.8	9.9	10.7	10.3	10.5
threshold	(1.5) <sup>A</sup>	$(1.2)^{A}$	(2.6) <sup>A</sup>	(1.3) <sup>A</sup>	(2.8) <sup>A</sup>	(1.3) <sup>A</sup>	(1.8) <sup>A</sup>	(1.7) <sup>A</sup>	(1.8) <sup>A</sup>
temperature (°C)									
Proximal									
mechanical	6.6	7.1	7.3	7.5	7.5	7.4	7.2	8.3	8.8
nociceptive	$(1.1)^{a}$	(1.9) <sup>a,c</sup>	$(0.9)^{a,c}$	(2.2) <sup>a,b,c</sup>	$(1.8)^{a,b,c}$	$(2.1)^{a,b,c}$	(2.1) <sup>a,c</sup>	(2.6) <sup>b,c</sup>	(2.2) <sup>b</sup>
threshold									
(Newton's)									

# Phase 2

# Physiologic responses

Respiratory rate at 1, 6 and 24 hours (all were  $19 \pm 4$  breaths/min) after buprenorphine administration were lower than at baseline ( $27 \pm 4$  breaths/min; all  $P \le 0.002$ ). Pulse rate was

lower than the baseline value at 6 hours after drug administration ( $95 \pm 13$  vs.  $117 \pm 9$  beats/min;

P = 0.001). Rectal temperatures did not change significantly over time. (Table 4.2)

**Table 4.2:** Mean (SD) values of physiologic variables in 6 Walker hounds after administration of buprenorphine (0.03 mg/kg, OTM). \*Value differs significantly (P < 0.05) from respective baseline value.

	Pulse rate	<b>Respiratory rate</b>	Rectal temperature		
	(beats/min)	(breaths/min)	(°C)		
Baseline	117 ( 9)	27 (4)	39.0 (0.2)		
1 h	105 (13)	19 (4)*	38.8 (0.6)		
6 h	95 (13)*	19 (4)*	38.5 (0.6)		
24 h	109 (13)	19 (4)*	39.0 (0.2)		

#### Behavioral responses

Responses to the nociceptive devices varied with the individual dog. Some turned their heads toward the stimulus and, in some situations, attempted to bite the device, whereas others attempted to move away from the stimulus or had a definitive skin twitch (thermal) or forelimb lift (mechanical).

#### *Nociceptive thresholds*

Results from the nociceptive threshold measurements are shown in **Figure 4.4**. The thermal threshold was significantly higher than baseline at 2 hours post drug administration (11.3  $\pm$  3.2 vs. 16.2  $\pm$  4.6 °C; *P* = 0.025).



**Figure 4.4**: Mean  $\pm$  SD values for thermal (A) proximal mechanical (B), and distal mechanical (C) nociceptive thresholds in 3 male and 3 female 7- to 8-month-old healthy Walker hounds after administration of liquid buprenorphine (0.03 mg/kg, orotransmucosally). Time 0 on the x-axis represents values measured at baseline prior to drug administration. \*Value differs significantly (P < 0.05) from the baseline value.

The proximal nociceptive thresholds at 1 (14.3  $\pm$  3.2 Newton's), 2 (16.7  $\pm$  3.4 Newton's), 4 (12.1  $\pm$  4.2 Newton's) and 6 (12.2  $\pm$  3.6 Newton's) hours after buprenorphine treatment were significantly higher than baseline (8.5  $\pm$  2.5 Newton's; *P* < 0.001, *P* < 0.001, *P* = 0.023 and *P* = 0.019, respectively).

The distal nociceptive thresholds were significantly higher than baseline at every time point through the 12-hour measurement.

# Discussion

The test of repeatability presented no significant differences in the thermal threshold during different time points under the controlled conditions. No sign of tissue damage at any site of testing was observed. The application of the thermal and proximal mechanical threshold testing devices to dogs appeared to work well, inducing predictable responses. The response characteristics of each individual dog were consistent and repeatable. These results are in agreement with the manufacturer studies in cats using similar devices which showed that both repeatability of the nociceptive threshold pressure (Dixon et al. 2007) and temperature (Dixon et al. 2002) were considered acceptable.

However, the proximal mechanical threshold recorded during day 3 appeared to be higher than the data observed during day 1. This may reflect some degree of stress-induced analgesia in dogs as some of them needed to be slightly restrained during the assessment. It is also possible that dogs were less concerned with the stimulus from the device when the measurement was repeated multiple times.

During the study some dogs tried to remove the thermal and proximal mechanical devices by chewing and pulling them out. This was not observed in a previous study using a similar thermal device for testing the analgesic efficacy of pain medications in six adult beagles (6 - 8 years old). The beagles in that study wore the thermal device for up to 10 hours without attempting to remove or playing with the device during the evaluation (Hoffmann et al. 2012). It is likely this resulted from our use of young dogs (7-8 months old) with high levels of alertness, playfulness and responsiveness to environment compared to the adult dogs. Hence the thermal device may be more suitable in mature dogs. Another explanation is that in the beagle study, dogs had been wearing the thermal device and performed the placebo treatment over a six month period prior to the drug tests (Hoffmann et al. 2012). Therefore, the problem of less tolerance in animals may be minimized by extending the period for habituation to the devices prior to starting an experiment.

Changes in nociceptive thresholds following orotransmucosal buprenorphine in dogs were observed with all testing modalities used. However the thermal nociceptive threshold increased for only a short period of time (2 hour) following drug administration.

The thermal threshold testing device was used previously to evaluate the analgesic efficacy of buprenorphine in cats after OTM administration. The results demonstrated an increase of the thermal threshold between 30 min and 6 h after buprenorphine treatment (0.02 mg/kg) (Robertson et al. 2005a). This may indicate a longer duration of action of the drug or a better detection of the analgesic efficacy of orotransmucosal buprenorphine using the thermal device in cats compared to dogs.

Given the unequal duration of the threshold increase between the 2 mechanical threshold tests (between 1 and 6 hours for the proximal test and between 15 minutes and 12 hours for the distal test), it is likely the sensitivity of the 2 tests is different.

91

The device used for the proximal limb measurements has been used to evaluate the analgesic effects of buprenorphine administration in cats (Steagall et al. 2007) and the effect of butorphanol in cats and dogs (Dixon et al. 2010). An increase of the proximal mechanical threshold was found in cats at 2 hour after administration of buprenorphine (0.01 mg/kg, subcutaneously) (Steagall et al. 2007), at 30 minute after butorphanol treatment (0.2 mg/kg, intramuscularly), and in dogs between 15 and 45 minutes after administration of butorphanol (0.25 mg/kg, intramuscularly) or fentanyl (0.005 – 0.01 mg/kg, intravenously) (Dixon et al. 2010). Nonetheless, to our knowledge, the present study is the first in which the proximal mechanical testing device was used in dogs that received buprenorphine, so no data are available for comparison.

Results obtained by use of the distal mechanical nociceptive stimulus are similar to those reported for the same dose and route of buprenorphine administration in dogs (Mama et al. 2008). In that study evidence of analgesia was observed between 15 minutes and 8 hours after drug administration.

Pharmacokinetic studies of OTM buprenorphine have been performed in both dogs and cats after a dose of 0.02 mg/kg was administered. The median bioavailability in six adult cats was 116.3% (67.6 - 133.6%), the half-life was 243 min (125 - 1154 min), the maximum plasma concentration was 12.5 ng/mL (2.6 - 19.4 ng/mL), and the time of maximum concentration was 30 min (10 - 45 min) (Robertson et al. 2005a). In dogs the bioavailability was  $38 \pm 12\%$  (mean  $\pm$  SD), the half-life was  $426 \pm 72$  min, the maximum plasma concentration was  $2.2 \pm 0.3$  ng/mL, and the time of maximum concentration was  $42 \pm 12$ min (Abbo et al. 2008). These pharmacokinetic parameters seem to indicate a higher absorption of the drug in cats and consequently the better efficacy.

Even though the cutoff of 60 °C was preset to prevent tissue damage from the thermal nociceptive threshold device, inflamed spots were noticed on the thoracic skin of some dogs in the area exposed to the thermal probe. Despite this we did not note a difference in thermal thresholds over time except at 2 hour post drug. To avoid tissue inflammation in future studies using the thermal nociceptive threshold device in dogs, the cutoff temperature level for the thermal device may need to be lower than 60 °C.

In summary, all testing devices applied in the present study demonstrated increase of nociceptive thresholds in dogs following the OTM administration of buprenorphine. This suggests the potential usefulness of orotransmucosal buprenorphine for treatment of pain in dogs.

# References

- Abbo LA, Ko JC, Maxwell LK et al. (2008) Pharmacokinetics of buprenorphine following intravenous and oral transmucosal administration in dogs. Vet Ther 9, 83-93.
- Calcagnetti DJ, Holtzman SG (1992) Potentiation of morphine analgesia in rats given a single exposure to restraint stress immobilization. Pharmacol Biochem Behav 41, 449-453.
- Catbagan DL, Quimby JM, Mama KR et al. (2011) Comparison of the efficacy and adverse effects of sustained-release buprenorphine hydrochloride following subcutaneous administration and buprenorphine hydrochloride following oral transmucosal administration in cats undergoing ovariohysterectomy. Am J Vet Res 72, 461-466.
- Dixon MJ, Robertson SA, Taylor PM (2002) A thermal threshold testing device for evaluation of analgesics in cats. Research in Veterinary Science 72, 205-210.
- Dixon MJ, Taylor PM, Slingsby L et al. (2010) A small, silent, low friction, linear actuator for mechanical nociceptive testing in veterinary research. Laboratory Animals 44, 247-253.
- Dixon MJ, Taylor PM, Steagall PVM et al. (2007) Development of a pressure nociceptive threshold testing device for evaluation of analgesics in cats. Research in Veterinary Science 82, 85-92.
- Hoffmann MV, Rita Kastner SB, Kietzmann M et al. (2012) Contact heat thermal threshold testing in beagle dogs: baseline reproducibility and the effect of acepromazine, levomethadone and fenpipramide. BMC Veterinary Research 8, 206.
- Ko JC, Freeman LJ, Barletta M et al. (2011) Efficacy of oral transmucosal and intravenous administration of buprenorphine before surgery for postoperative analgesia in dogs undergoing ovariohysterectomy. J Am Vet Med Assoc 238, 318-328.
- Kornetsky C (1954) Effects of anxiety and morphine on the anticipation and perception of painful radiant thermal stimuli. J Comp Physiol Psychol 47, 130-132.
- Love EJ, Taylor PM, Murrell J et al. (2012) Effects of acepromazine, butorphanol and buprenorphine on thermal and mechanical nociceptive thresholds in horses. Equine Vet J 44, 221-225.
- Mama KR, Mich PM, Raske T (2008) Plasma concentration and selected behavioral effects following intravenous and oral transmucosal buprenorphine in dogs. In: Assoc Vet Anaesth Meet. pp. 65.
- Robertson SA, Lascelles BD, Taylor PM et al. (2005a) PK-PD modeling of buprenorphine in cats: intravenous and oral transmucosal administration. J Vet Pharmacol Ther 28, 453-460.
- Robertson SA, Sanchez LC, Merritt AM et al. (2005b) Effect of systemic lidocaine on visceral and somatic nociception in conscious horses. Equine Vet J 37, 122-127.

- Robertson SA, Taylor PM, Sear JW (2003) Systemic uptake of buprenorphine by cats after oral mucosal administration. Vet Rec 152, 675-678.
- Rosellini RA, Abrahamsen GC, Stock HS et al. (1994) Modulation of hypoalgesia by morphine and number of shock trials: covariation of a measure of context fear and hypoalgesia. Physiol Behav 56, 183-188.
- Slingsby LS, Taylor PM, Monroe T (2009) Thermal antinociception after dexmedetomidine administration in cats: a comparison between intramuscular and oral transmucosal administration. Journal of Feline Medicine & Surgery 11, 829-834.
- Steagall PV, Taylor PM, Brondani JT et al. (2007) Effects of buprenorphine, carprofen and saline on thermal and mechanical nociceptive thresholds in cats. Vet Anaesth Analg 34, 344-350.

### **CHAPTER 5: CONCLUSIONS AND FUTURE DIRECTIONS**

Pain is a subjective, individualized and complex phenomenon. To understand mechanisms of pain and improve pain treatment, animal models using analgesiometers and/or scaling systems to assess pain under individual circumstances have been developed. This dissertation presents two studies evaluating the analgesic properties of two drugs in small animal models using different approaches. Additionally the development and/or validation of these models are highlighted. The first study was designed to evaluate the antinociceptive effect of maropitant, a selective NK-1 receptor antagonist, using visceral noxious stimulus for MAC determination in cats. In the second study multiple nociceptive modalities were used to investigate the analgesic efficacy of orotransmucosal buprenorphine in dogs.

A model for ovary and ovarian ligament stimulation previously applied in dogs (Boscan et al. 2011a) was modified and used to determine the effect of maropitant on the anesthetic requirement of sevoflurane in cats. This visceral model was selected because the preclinical information showed high expression of the NK-1 receptor in neural pathway carrying visceral nociceptive signals (Brown et al. 1995; Perry & Lawson 1998; Laird et al. 2000). This model induced predictable visceral noxious stimuli that do not damage ovary and ovarian ligament tissues (Boscan et al. 2011a), and was utilized to evaluate the MAC sparing effect of maropitant in dogs (Boscan et al. 2011b).

In our study we observed that the ovarian stimulation model did work well as a visceral noxious stimulus for determination of MAC and demonstrated the anesthetic sparing effect of maropitant in cats. Intravenous maropitant both at 1 mg/kg and 5 mg/kg reduced the MAC requirements for sevoflurane significantly compared to the value obtained prior to the treatment.

The underlying mechanisms of the MAC sparing effect of maropitant remain unknown. However, as reviewed in Chapter 3, preclinical studies in multiple species suggest that NK-1 receptors may play a role in regulating visceral pain transmission. For example, nociceptive responses to intracolonic administration of capsaicin were reduced in NK-1 knockout mice (Laird et al. 2000). The responses to visceral noxious stimuli such as intraperitoneal injection of acetic acid in mice (Nagahisa et al. 1992) and gerbil (Gallantine & Meert 2004), and bradykinin stimulation of gallbladder in cats (Pan et al. 1995) were attenuated after the administration of NK-1 receptor antagonists. Hence it is possible that maropitant reduced the nociceptive responses evoked by the stimulation of the ovary and ovarian ligament in cats, and so decreased the anesthetic requirement for preventing purposeful movements during the MAC determinations.

Nevertheless MAC values are more likely to be the result from the interaction between the tested drug and inhalant anesthetic (Docquier et al. 2003), and further investigation is required to evaluate the antinociceptive effect of maropitant without combining it with other drugs.

To further evaluate the analgesic effect of maropitant, an animal model of visceral clinical pain may be of interest due to the MAC sparing effect of the drug during the visceral noxious stimulation. Recent studies reported some visceral pain conditions are associated with NK-1 receptor expression. An upregulation of the lumbosacral spinal cord NK-1 receptor was found in rats with irritated bladder-induced abdominal pain (Ishigooka et al. 2001), and a significant positive correlation between NK-1 expression in colonic lamina propria of diverticulosis patients and VAS pain scores during rectal distension in humans (Humes et al. 2012). Also a significant relationship between NK-1 receptor mRNA concentrations in

pancreatic tissue and the intensity, frequency and duration of pain in humans with chronic pancreatitis has been shown (Shrikhande et al. 2001). The evidence encourages further clinical trials to evaluate the analgesic efficacy of maropitant in animals with cystitis, enteritis and pancreatitis.

The second study was designed to evaluate the analgesic efficacy of orotransmucosal buprenorphine in dogs. Following validation two mechanical and one thermal nociceptive threshold testing devices were utilized. All of the devices demonstrated increases of nociceptive thresholds at at least one time point after buprenorphine treatment, supporting that the OTM administration of buprenorphine has potential usefulness as an analgesic medication in dogs.

Two testing devices from Topcat Metrology Company constructed originally for use in cats (Dixon et al. 2002; Slingsby et al. 2009; Dixon et al. 2010) appear to be repeatable in measuring nociceptive thresholds in dogs. However, using the proximal mechanical threshold testing device over multiple time periods may promote some degree of learning and stress-induced analgesia in the animals.

Differences in analgesic duration of buprenorphine among the three testing devices (at 2 hour post treatment for thermal test, between 1 and 6 hours post drug for proximal mechanical test, and up to 12 hours post dosing for distal mechanical test) may assert the importance of using multiple modalities to evaluate the analgesic efficacy of a pain medication. The mechanism of pain is complex; therefore, the outcomes can be varied between individual modalities.

Our findings obtained from maropitant and orotransmucosal buprenorphine studies indicate the promising analgesic effect of both tested drugs. However the investigations were limited to normal animals in which the nociceptive responses were evoked from healthy tissue.

98

Further investigation using animal models of clinical pain are required for assessing the drug effects on naturally occurring pain.

Recently a study evaluated the postoperative analgesic efficacy of orotransmucosal buprenorphine in dogs undergoing ovariohysterectomy. In the study dogs received buprenorphine orotransmucosal 0.12 mg/kg or 0.02 mg/kg via the cheek pouch prior to anesthetic induction. The postoperative pain assessment using a pain scale demonstrated an analgesic duration of 20.3 hours and 7.3 hours, respectively (Ko et al. 2011). This is in agreement with our results where nociceptive thresholds were elevated for up to 12 hours after OTM administration of 0.03 mg/kg of buprenorphine.

Results of our studies and recent reports from broader clinical use are encouraging and support the ongoing investigation of both compounds for treatment of animal pain.

99

# References

- Boscan P, Monnet E, Mama K et al. (2011a) A dog model to study ovary, ovarian ligament and visceral pain. Vet Anaesth Analg 38, 260-266.
- Boscan P, Monnet E, Mama K et al. (2011b) Effect of maropitant, a neurokinin 1 receptor antagonist, on anesthetic requirements during noxious visceral stimulation of the ovary in dogs. Am J Vet Res 72, 1576-1579.
- Brown JL, Liu H, Maggio JE et al. (1995) Morphological characterization of substance P receptor-immunoreactive neurons in the rat spinal cord and trigeminal nucleus caudalis. J Comp Neurol 356, 327-344.
- Dixon MJ, Robertson SA, Taylor PM (2002) A thermal threshold testing device for evaluation of analgesics in cats. Research in Veterinary Science 72, 205-210.
- Dixon MJ, Taylor PM, Slingsby L et al. (2010) A small, silent, low friction, linear actuator for mechanical nociceptive testing in veterinary research. Laboratory Animals 44, 247-253.
- Docquier MA, Lavand'homme P, Ledermann C et al. (2003) Can determining the minimum alveolar anesthetic concentration of volatile anesthetic be used as an objective tool to assess antinociception in animals? Anesth Analg 97, 1033-1039.
- Gallantine EL, Meert TF (2004) Attenuation of the gerbil writhing response by mu-, kappa- and delta-opioids, and NK-1, -2 and -3 receptor antagonists. Pharmacol Biochem Behav 79, 125-135.
- Humes DJ, Simpson J, Smith J et al. (2012) Visceral hypersensitivity in symptomatic diverticular disease and the role of neuropeptides and low grade inflammation. Neurogastroenterol Motil 24, 1365-2982.
- Ishigooka M, Zermann D-H, Doggweiler R et al. (2001) Spinal NK1 receptor is upregulated after chronic bladder irritation. Pain 93, 43-50.
- Ko JC, Freeman LJ, Barletta M et al. (2011) Efficacy of oral transmucosal and intravenous administration of buprenorphine before surgery for postoperative analgesia in dogs undergoing ovariohysterectomy. J Am Vet Med Assoc 238, 318-328.
- Laird JM, Olivar T, Roza C et al. (2000) Deficits in visceral pain and hyperalgesia of mice with a disruption of the tachykinin NK1 receptor gene. Neuroscience 98, 345-352.
- Nagahisa A, Kanai Y, Suga O et al. (1992) Antiinflammatory and analgesic activity of a nonpeptide substance P receptor antagonist. Eur J Pharmacol 217, 191-195.
- Pan HL, Bonham AC, Longhurst JC (1995) Role of spinal NK1 receptors in cardiovascular responses to chemical stimulation of the gallbladder. Am J Physiol 268, H526-534.
- Perry MJ, Lawson SN (1998) Differences in expression of oligosaccharides, neuropeptides, carbonic anhydrase and neurofilament in rat primary afferent neurons retrogradely labelled via skin, muscle or visceral nerves. Neuroscience 85, 293-310.

- Shrikhande SV, Friess H, di Mola FF et al. (2001) NK-1 receptor gene expression is related to pain in chronic pancreatitis. Pain 91, 209-217.
- Slingsby LS, Taylor PM, Monroe T (2009) Thermal antinociception after dexmedetomidine administration in cats: a comparison between intramuscular and oral transmucosal administration. Journal of Feline Medicine & Surgery 11, 829-834.